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INDIAN CHILDREN: ADOPTION; FOSTER CARE
(AB 1041, BATES)
Tuesday, October 9, 1979
9:30 a.m.
Room 2170, State Capitol
Sacramento, California
CHAIRMAN RICBARD ALATORRE:
ttee is now called to order.

The Assembly Human Resources

The Human Resources Committee

is having a special hearing today on adoption and foster care
children that happen to be Native-Arne
AB 1041 by Assemblyman Bates.

cans, as proposed

When AB 1041 was he

r
r

in Committee

on May 1, 1979, it was decided to hold the bill in Committee so
that we could devote more time to learn about the complexities of
Indian child welfare programs and the provisions of AB 1041.

der

We are here to

a better understanding about the

Child Welfare Act,

95-608, and its impact on Indian

children in California.

We are also interested in learning how

child welfare services are currently being provided to Indian
children in California and in determining the need for legisl

ion

such as the one that's being proposed by Assemblyman Bates,
AB 1041.
I

e" are
e

rson

am aware that the
lex
p

finitions of "Indian" and "Indian

controversiaL
s test

to

d,

fore,

to be precise about their

definition of these terms so that the impact of their statements
and recommendations can be better

rstood.

I understand that Assemblyman Bates, after working on
the bill, is proposing major changes to the bill, and at this time
I would like to open it up by allowing Assemblyman Bates to discuss
these changes.
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

Mr. Chairman and members of the Com-

mittee, I appreciate the opportunity to appear before the Committee
to go into a rather complex issue.

I also should tell the Com-

mittee it's our intentions to offer some suggestions for changes in
the bill today, but to really listen to the testimony and the comments of the Committee to really amend the bill before we go back
in session in January and, hopefully, in a bill that will be a
consensus bill that we can all live with.
But the issues before this Committee are really of substantial importance to thousands of Indians of California.

The

question addresses the basis of the Indian community and the Indian
family.

How do we recognize the special set of circumstances which

has so severely disrupted the Indian community?

How can we begin

to return to the Indian community the right to determine their own
futures for themselves and for their families?

More specifically,

how do we stop the erosion of the Indian cultural identity which
results from the removal of the Indian children from their families
and their placement in either adoptive or foster families which
have no ties to the Indian culture, tribe or family?

The breakup

and demoralization of the Indian family stems from the causes we
now recognize:

The lack of self-determination of the Indian people,

even with respect to control over services for their own children.

2.

Many California Indians are in a particularly difficult
position.

They have born the burden of white colonization, but

often do not share in the benefits -- they attempt to address these
problems at the federal level.

Some of the national changes in

conscienceness in regards to Indian policy have led last year to
the passage of PL 95-608 as alluded by the Chairman, the Indian
Child Welfare Act of 1978.

The law represents a major step for-

ward in returning Indian control over child welfare matters.

Many

important questions remain with regard to implementation and coverage of the Act.
by PL 95-608?

In particular, how are Califo

a Indians covered

Many California Indians are not

de

ly-recognized

and are not officially members of a tribe.
I believe the law is unclear about the extent of child
welfare protection these Indians are entitled to.

I also believe

there is very little clarity with regard to the feder

law.

1

it be implemented here in California, if at all?
What this legislation is designed to

is to make sure

that California Indians receive the same major protection, guaranteed to federally recognized Indians, and to make sure that we can
lement these protections in California.

ese hearings wil

a long way toward answering many of these questions, and I commend
the Committee for its interest in exploring the problem in depth.
I'm convinced that we need legislation
these p

lems,

I believe that

California to address

ese hearings

11 demonstrate

that need.
The Indian community, led by the Indian Women's De

3.

se

Committee and the Office of American Indian Coordinator, has sponsored a series of workshops in different parts of the State to come
up with some proposals for implementations.

Let me outline these

proposals now which will be discussed in greater detail in the
hearing.
The proposal maintains many of the procedural protections
provided for in the federal law, particularly the emphasis on
placement of the Indian children with Indian families and the Indian
community.

It calls for the creation of a system of Indian child

welfare officers to serve as caseworkers, interveners, and advocates
in matters affecting Indian child

welfare~

It also calls for the

creation of an Indian Child Welfare Commission to explore the complicated questions of jurisdiction and develop Indian child welfare
policy at the state level.

I believe that the proposed changes are

extremely constructive and can help solve the complicated tangle of
problems that the Committee analysis has pointed out.

In fact, I

believe that we can develop legislation which will serve as a model
for many of the other states which face some of the same difficult
problems we face in California.

I hope that the Legislature can

approach the problem in the same constructive way that many Indian
groups have, which recognizes the difficulties, but proceeds to
move ahead to address these very important child welfare issues.
I look forward to a constructive day of hearings and,
hopefully, some agreement about how we should move ahead.

I would

like to call upon Lenny Goldberg to discuss with you briefly the
bill which is before you.

4.

MR. LENNY GOLDBERG:

Okay, let me just outline 1041

currently, and Connie Reitman and myself will later, after we have
heard about the federal bill, go into the proposal that came out of
the many workshops that the Indian community sponsored.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Everybody has an analysis of the bill.

I would be more interested in listening to the changes that you are

either going to be making today or
making.

at you are contemplating in

that are going to be discussing

Or, if there are peop

that, I would rather have it discussed at that time.
MR. GOLDBERG:

Okay.

I

just didn't know whether the Com-

ttee wanted to review some of the parts of the bill that are currently there.

I'll wait on that, and we'll be presenting the pro-

posed changes.
Let me just say just quickly that some of the things
will be maintained in that proposal are the requirements for preferential placements, some of the procedural safeguards with re
to adoptions, and some of the notification procedures.

But, the

basic proposal is one that implements those protections in a way
that

ts into current adoption and foster care procedures and

placements

in

e State of California, and I

ink we will wa t

on that.
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:
test
ild wel

was
officers.

the main thing that I mentioned

fact that we are go
We envis

this to be approximate

such officers, which (Sic) would be est
would be placed on the basis of

'

,:)

to establish Indian

lished in the State,

an population and also on

.

10

Indian child

case~oad.

We would hope that the Indian Child Welfare

officer would determine whether or not the child is first covered
by federal law, so that when a child is up for adoption or for
foster care, that would be the first determination they would have
to make.

Then, in addition, we would want to make certain that the

proceedings would afford the child and the family protection under
the law and, also, to make sure that the child is, in fact, offered
first to the family, and to work with the family, to keep the child
in that setting.

It's also hoped that the child welfare officer

would intervene and present evidence in court hearings where it
would be under a voluntary situation, and in relinquishing a
situation we hope that the child welfare officer would act as
counsel to the parents and refer the parents to other services if
necessary, and make certain that the preference for placement would
be to Indian relatives and families as prescribed under the current
federal law.

So, we try to have that take place at the state level

through this procedure.
We'd also hope that the officer would serve as a caseworker, and to make certain that preference for placement in Indian
families is, in fact, carried out, that we would be working to
develop placements in working with the families to make sure that
there are spots available for children to be placed.

We'd also

hope that the child welfare officer would work with the Indian community to look for placements for foster care, for adoptive homes
and other community facilities, such as Indian group homes, to
serve the Indian family.

So, this would be the opportunity, in a

6.

sense, to implement the federal law at the State by having these
people available to perform this service.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

I guess the most basic question is

who pays for the officers?
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

We would assume that the State of

California would pick up that cost.
In addition, as I mentioned in my brief testimony, we
would also want to have the Indian Child Welfare Commission established, and the Commission would be established which would consist
of seven members nominated by the Indian community and appointed by
e Governor.

And, we would hope

at they would advise the State

in the implementation of the Act, and would also work out jurisdictional problems between the state and federal government, so
that tribal status could be determined and would work in this area,
as well as supervising and monitoring the Indian child welfare
officers with regard to their success and their placements, so we
would have an opportunity to review what we are doing, and also to
advise the Governor and the Legislature on policy and program of
improving the status of the Indian family and the Indian children.
So we'd attempt, rather than trying to decide, you know, whether
the tribes have jurisdiction or not, we'd attempt to say the child
welfare o

cers would provide, in essence, the same direction.
CHAIR~AN

ALATORRE:

SEMBLYWO~~N

• Moore.

MOORE:

Essentially, the 10 o

icers

at

you're recommending would-- is there any other situation which
the State is involved in or actually having a caseload?
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

Well, of course, we have caseloads

7.

in other areas -- social welfare areas -- one that Richard and I
were talking about earlier in the continuing care.

We have social

workers who place people who were coming out of state hospitals into community settings, but I'm not familiar with whether or not we
have any other adoptive service or foster care.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

My concern is that most -- I don't

know of any, and that, of course, does not make it not exist.

But

my concern would be what would be the relationship of these caseworkers with the county welfare agencies and other adoptive agencies
that normally have the responsibility and jurisdiction with these
kids?

Would they be totally independent of these ••• ?
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

Well, we have to work out that

arrangement, and there could be several.

It could be housed with

-- this is something we really need to further address as the bill
proceeds, but we would envision that they would have jurisdiction,
at least where I'm thinking at this point, whether or not we'd want
to give them complete jurisdiction of all Indian caseloads.

I tend

to think that would be good, but I don't know whether or not they
would be able to handle that.

So, there might have to be some

arrangement worked out between the county and these 10 individuals
so they would be consulted, they would make sure that the foster
workers and the adoptive workers would, in fact, implement the law
and they'd oversee that at a local level.
Catherine, have you given that some thought?

This is

Catherine Camp •••
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Please give us your name for the

record.

8.

MS. CATHERINE
Office of Research.

CA~P:

I'm Catherine Camp from the Assembly

We've talked about that a great deal.

The

Department of Social Services has statutory responsibility, at
least in the case of relinquishment adoptions which it carries out
by the identification of local public adoption agen

es, usually

welfare departments, but in some cases directly through state
offices which assume responsibility for relinquishment adoptions.
I think it would be possible to have the Indian child welfare
officer assume direct case worker responsibility, in some cases, or
to provide supplementary casework services to the primary casework
in those on the specific issues:

Are there alternatives within the

Indian community available, does the placement decision accord with
those placement preferences that are outlined in federal law?

I

suspicion, for example, that putting the Indian child welfare
o

cer -- giving the Indian child welfare officer primary casewo

responsibility where the case is under the jurisdiction of the
juvenile court would be legally difficult, and that, in those
situations, you may want, instead, to require the Indian child welfare officer to make a supplementary report to the juvenile court,
ich would be a part of the court record and the considerations;
and

t in other cases, for example, relinquishment adoptions,

they may be able to assume primary casework responsibility.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN

Do you have any idea of the number

of children that are involved in

rel

s

t adoption dur

a given year?
MR. GOLDBERG:

Do we have those figures?

9.

The caseload

we're looking at, but I'm not sure whether itvs relinquishment.
think its more broadly with regard to Indian children.

I

I think the

figure we had was 664 from last year in terms of the Indian
children placements.

I think some of that information will be com-

ing out in the hearing.

The Indian child welfare officer could

easily be subsumed as paid for the state but part of the county
placement and county welfare services.

The problem with that is

you may be talking about a regional basis in more than one county
where the caseload is not that large.

You may have a regional kind

of situation where you have to work out contractual arrangements
with each of the counties.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

My concern is just that I would

hate to see a caseworker, and having been a former social worker,
I know how sometimes it could be perceived more as a hindrance
than a help; and certainly whatever was decided, if that were a way
to go, it would appear we would have to delineate the functions and
make very clear the relationship between the county and this Indian
welfare officer.

I see a whole lot of problems in that area that

I hope we will have time to think about before January.
MR. GOLDBERG:

We're working on it.

ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

We are going to try to work on it,

because-- exactly •..•
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

And you're saying that there would

be no role in 601 or 602 cases which would be under the jurisdiction of the juvenile court?
MS. CAMP:

I think there is a role.

10.

I'm not sure -- I

think legally it would be complicated to try to institute the state
employee as the primary caseworker.

I think, if anything, in terms

of the issue, those children are likely to be once where the
parents' understanding of the process and voluntary participation
of the process is least likely, and that those may be the children
for whom we need to put the most energy.

Current casework, however,

is done under the jurisdiction of the juvenile court and putting a
state position as primary casework, I'm not enough of a lawyer to
guess how you do that -- at least it would be difficult and it may
be legally impossible.

It would not, however, be impossible to

request a special look at the concerns that are before us here
which are:

How to involve the Indian community in providing an

appropriate supportive environment for that kid, how to deliver
reunification services to the family, and how to ensure that the
parents understand not only what has happened to them, but what
their options are and what the likely outcome of foster care placement is, what the likely outcome of relinquishment is and whether
or not they have some other choices.

That is what we're concerned

about, and I think, if we're careful, that we could devise a system
where support for the primary caseworker is delivered without requiring a complete redraft of the current system or making it
awkward for people.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

I think our concern has to be mak-

ing

best poss

ta

about now, I can see just all kinds of delays that can t

place as a result

le plan for the child, and

~f

e things that we're

what you're proposing; particularly in the

11.

juvenile court where there are time constraints that have to be met.
And, that's what really

we're talking about 10 individuals and I

can see kids who really need a placement like yesterday being detained or being delayed from their placement because of -- you know,
we're trying to, you know, make the best plan which is we perceived as the possible •••
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Under the current bill, as far as

protective services are concerned, they still would be under the
jurisdiction of the State or under the respective counties, am I
correct?
MR. GOLDBERG:
CHAI~~N

That's correct, yes.

ALATORRE:

ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:

Mr. Costa, do you have a question?
Yes, I just wanted to get back to

this -- you said six hundred and sixty-some children were up for
adoption last year?
MR. GOLDBERG:

That's the figure we have reached.

ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:

We're talking about 10 counselors

which relates to about 66 children per counselor?
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:
just adoption.

Well, we would be talking more than

We'd be talking about foster care, too.

ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:

How much is that number suspected?

ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

I don't have that figure •••

MR. GOLDBERG:

I think that's the total number together

of foster care and adoption.

I think that was the number together,

and one of the concerns is that you also have a total caseload that's
accumulative in a sense that you may have placements.

12.

But those

are placements per year as well as ongoing cases to follow, so that
last year's placements would still be part of the caseload relative
to the family or the child.
ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:

Yes, but there wouldn't be as much

work involved.
MR. GOLDBERG:

Maybe not, although in the case of foster

care if you want to promote reunification of the family, or if
you're a caseworker with the foster child, that you still are
following that child up and through the system.
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:
uni

The thrust is really to try to go for re-

cation, get the family back together, and we hope that in most

cases that is what the child welfare officer would be, in fact,
doing is working with the family so that you can stabilize that
family and not disrupt it.

So, the actual amount of the caseload,

Jim, I can't tell you offhand what it's going to be at this po
but I would hope that as we develop more information from this hearing and other hearings that we can give you better definitive
answers to what we think (?) of the problem and how many people are
going to be covered by this legislation.
MR. GOLDBERG:

And I would think the number of child --

depending on what answer •••
ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:
MR. GOLDBERG:

I liked 10 •••

Well, depending on -- that was a rough

at was a very rough figure in terms of caseloads, but depen
on what that number was that would be how you would determine the
need.

13.

MS. CAMP:

I don't know, the number of the caseload.

Masako, do you know what the caseload would be with either foster
care or adoptions •••
MS. MASAKO DOLAN:
caseload.

Usually, adoptions have a much smaller

It's completely a state-funded activity.

I see members

of the Department of Social Services who could speak more -- but
it's 20/30 for adoptions.

For foster kids it ranges, and with the

implementation of Prop. 13, we have seen caseloads go up.

I

haven't seen the latest figures on that, but it's much larger than
IS to 20.
MR. GOLDBERG:

I think the number would be contingent on

what the data actually showed in terms of caseloads and then some
reasonable assumption of what it would take to meet that caseload.
ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:

In the bill, do we make a distinction

for 10 counselors specifically?
MR. GOLDBERG:

That's something we will have to determine.

That was the suggested number that came out of the meetings within
the Indian community.

Their sense was that you needed regional

coverage and you need not to have excessive caseloads.

Their pro-

posal was 10, but that is really subject to some determination as
to what an appropriate caseload and what an appropriate workload
may be.

The number could be more or it could be fewer.
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

You have before you, I believe we

passed out a proposal for amendments, which describe the functions
of the Indian child welfare officer and also the commission.
This is really an outgrowth of some frustration on our

14.

part and actually to try to figure out which is the best way to
have

ans to make their own self-determination for what's best

for their families, and this was an outgrowth of these hearin
e workshops were held around the State where this suggestion
carne forward, to establish the welfare of
ssion.

I think it's a good idea.

cers and

so the corn-

I think it's s

we

should think through and Gwen has raised some good
will they interface with county workers
at

ans are,

play.

s about how

how do we make sure

fact, playing the role that we want them to

This is by no means, and I tried to make

is with my

ing remarks, by no means do we consider this a finished bi 1,
that's the purpose of this hearing is to really take this bill and
use it as a mockup
with.

to make it something that we can all live

But the most important thing

at I hope you keep

throughout the hearing is the fact that there is a re
at Indian families are being destroyed, that
be

placed

situations

d

em:

p

an children are

ich I think are inappropriate where

they could, in fact, be placed with other Indian families or wi
tr

e taking some responsibility.

And we are attempting now,

is bill, to address that problem, and to come up with a
solution and we're
live wi

is

open to anyth

c

the I

ttee feels it's

an communi

can

the best public

erests.
, do you have any idea of
contested placements were
ASSEMBLYMAN

S:

last year?
I don't have that figure.

15,.

Maybe

someone can testify to that later.
MS. CAMP:

Do you have that?

I haven't looked at the numbers.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

I'm sure that probably either the

Department or maybe some of the people who will be testifying could
answer that question.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

I think that's kind of important,

because that's part of the problem we're addressing.
MR. GOLDBERG:

Yes, that's one thing we need to determine

and, hopefully, will come out in the hearing.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Mr. Lockyer.

ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

I have two questions.

I guess the

initial one is perhaps disappointing to advocates for the bill,
but it's why can't informal relationships be developed with the
appropriate local county foster care and adoption programs and any
native American organizations or tribal groups to just try to work
out placements in what clearly is a better way, rather than write
a bunch of laws and create these new offices and stuff like that?
What's the problem-- and I'm sure people will want to testify •••
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:
to that point.

I would like to have people testify

I think Lenny would like to make a comment on that.

MR. GOLDBERG:

One of the concerns that really stems from

the fact that the federal bill was passed, and that very much of
the language in 1041 comes from that federal bill.

There are in

law certain guarantees for procedural protections and preferences
for placement with Indian families.

The problem is then when you

apply that to California, given the question of federal recognition,

16.

they need to provide that protection.

And, I think that, from

rstanding of the genesis of the

ral bill,

was that those informal arrangements

e sense

at

dn't work, that you

lems that were much more serious, much more extensive,

p

were not protections
munity.
the

law that were adequate

think the question is that it

I

welfare of the

ild and

enence of
aw of

ose

e

Well obviously,

particular breakdowns are

r it, but that's typical.

s

we need to

e,

r C

ifornia

I'l

accept

it

'

me ask
al

e to s

ster care

So, I am sure
persuas

lies are not served we

because no one is served very well by

they are Bl

se

Brown, Anglo, or whatever.

'

e question of

er we

s

rst of al

't

ively with reforms, or are we just

comp

because of
s

My observation is that the

at Indian communities and

grams,

be

p

re could be a whole lot of very convincing
ce

t dis

ople.

tern and adoption program don't work for anyone.
at

0

deral law

appoints me, as usual, that the Feds pass new law

s

of

wel

ly,

tten for a national purpose

what

an com-

community.

ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:
was

r

lves

community as well, and some recognition
aining

t

de
ci

law changes, or was the

c California p

haven't mentioned

stion
e bill
s

re
at gone

17.

re-

-- well, I guess we'll get

test
sian

deral law

s

ect to tr
or

, or

s

out

pro-

courts.
t's

on?

• GOLDBERG:

re's a lot of question and that will be

discussed with regard to how the federal bill impacts on California
where you have a very different tribal organization and tribal court
situation.

What I'd like to do with the amendments, at the sugges-

tion of the Indian community, is to remove the language with regards
to tribal courts because of all the jurisdictional problems
are involved, but leave that an open question, and that becomes one
of the functions of the child welfare commission which is, is there
any way, with regard to conformative federal law, that some jurisdiction or consortium of tribes, was one of the things that we
discussed, could begin to assume some responsibility for child
welfare?

So, I think without saying, with regard to the federal

bill, it shall not apply in California with regard to jurisdiction
is to leave that question open for now -- to begin to develop a
system that implements the protections within California and really
has some positive implementation approach and avoids, at least temporarily, the confused questions of reassumption of tribal jurisdiction and tribal courts.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
move on.

One last question and then we will

One of the proposals that you have, that you included in

there that is part of the changes, is that the Indian child welfare
officer shall, in addition, develop and have responsibilities for
licensing, placements among Indian families and in Indian communities
including potential foster care, adoptive homes, and the like.

How

about in terms of just conformities to what basic state standards
that there are?

What happens if they are in conflict with state

standards?
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MR. GOLDBERG:

I think in the licensing requirements,

there are a number of things which you're talking about.
basic health and safety requirements.

One is

The others are judgments, I

think it has been the position of the Indian community that those
judgments should be made on the predominate culture

with regard

to the predominate cultural standards of the Indian community.
Which is to say that, again in the language of the bill, such
factors as poverty 0r overcrowding shall not be considered as primafacie evidence that the home is therefore unsuitable.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
basic premises.

I'm not arguing with some of the

I mean I'm just trying to throw out some of the

problems.
MR. GOLDBERG:

I recognize that.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

And then you get down to what do you

define as cultural values, and how about if cultural values are in
conflict with what is good law?

Then you have -- I mean you can

just open it up and I just cite to you that as just one of the
things that I picked up in the proposed amendments that you are
asking us to take a look at, and maybe throughout the day the testimony we will be receiving, maybe some of these things can be
brought out.

I mean I can just see right here, just in terms of

the licensing, that that officer is going to have jurisdiction over
what is a good home and what meets the standards as far as licensing
and what meets the standards as far as placement, which could be,
in fact, in conflict with what is presently in the law.
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ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

And, I think that the broader issue

that you raised is the fact that the Indians, who we have been in
contact with, would say to us that the normal Anglo sort of values
that the law reflects are not really consistent with their own beliefs, and we ought to have the leeway to recognize the differences,
and when you have those differences that they would like us to cite
on the side of the Indians, and I think that is where I'm coming
from.
CHAI~~N

ALATORRE:

ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:
CHAI~~AN

ALATORRE:

Very good.

If you can just be around.

Oh, we will.
Okay, fine Mr. Charles Toyebo.

You

can just give us your name and your affiliation for the record.

We

appreciate, and I think you received a letter from me, as to some
of the areas that we were interested in exploring with you.
MR. CHARLES L. TOYEBO:
Charles L. Toyebo, Jr.

That's correct.

My name is

I'm a community services officer, US Bureau

of Indian Affairs, Sacramento area office.

I'm not sure of what

the procedures are here, but I have some written, typed comments.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

We would appreciate it and the

Sargeant can pick up the thing -- if you can just, instead of reading, you can just give a synopsis of the areas that you would like
to touch on, and then maybe answer some of the questions that some
of the Committee members have, as well as addressing yourself to
some of the issues that we raised.
MR. TOYEBO:

Sargeant.

Well, one of the things I'd like to do in

terms of certain aspects of the federal law is read from the text
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these definitions create.
All Indian children and their families, who are members of
federally recognized tribes or Alaska native villages and who have
come under the jurisdiction of the state courts, are affected.

The

following are specific definitions relating to child welfare matters.
Now there's one term that is current in terms of definition of
Indians that is absent in the legislation here, and is also absent
in the regulations that are currently in effect, and that is the
definition of federally recognized tribes.

And, our issues and

questions to the central office people in terms of the absence of
this term, they said the federal recognized tribes are the ones that
apply to many of the definitions here in terms of those tribes that
would be concerned with Title I, that's the jurisdictional issue in
the child custody proceedings.

So, any reference to Indians and

tribes would be in reference to those that are federally recognized
Indians.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

How many here in the State of

California fall under that category and how many tribes or urban
Indians do not fall under the jurisdiction of the law?
MR. TOYEBO:

Well, that would be very hard to define in
what we refer to urban Indians.

terms of the Indians that are

A

lot of those Indians that are in the urban areas are members, or
could be eligible for members, of federally recognized tribes.
their number is, we don't know.

What

We don't have any hard data on that

any information that is really credible in terms of referring to
it as a definite figure.

For federally recognized tribes in the

24.

State of California, most of the t
of Jurisdiction are

bes

at come under the

derally recognized.

au

current f

the Department of Interior recognizes is 36 thousand plus,
includes on, or near, reservation,

an people.

have no re-

liable statistical data in terms of Indians who are elig
services from the Bureau of Indian Affairs,

at

le

r

are not members of

federally recognized tribes.
ASSEMBLYMAN COS

how

So, we don't

e o

a p

lem this definition is then?
MR. TOYEBO:
ASSEMBLYY~N

's correct.
COSTA:

It may not be a large problem at al

then?
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MR. TOYEBO:

Or it could be a major

It could.

tions that are being presented by all k

ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:

a-

I think we do have a large
of agencies:

Does any loca

s area or the State that wouldn't fal

tr

State,

in

come to

under

cate

de rally recognized tribes?
MR. TOYEBO:

Local tribes that exist a"_, an
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more of a tribe

that is eligible for services from BIA.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MR. TOYEBO:

Continue.

The Act's definition of Indian child means

any unmarried person who is under 18 and is either (a) a member of
an Indian tribe or (b) is eligible for membership in an Indian tribe.
An Indian child's tribe is defined as (a) the Indian tribe in whi
an Indian child is a member or eligible for membership or (b) in the
case of an Indian child, who is a member of

or eligible for

member-

ship in more than one tribe, the Indian tribe with which the Indian
child has the most significant contact.

An Indian tribe is any

Indian tribe, band, nation, or other organized group or community of
Indians recognized as eligible for services provided by two Indians
by the secretary because of their status as Indians, including the
Alaskan native village as defined in Section 3 (c) of the Alaskan
Native Claims Settlement Act.
Indian reservation means Indian country as defined in
Section 1151 of Title 18, United States Code, and any lands not
covered under such sections, title to which is either held by the
United States in trust for Indian and tribe or individual subject
to a restriction by the United States against alien nation.
The unwed father, whose paternity has not been established,
is not covered under the Act.

Indians who are members of non-

federally recognized tribes and Indians living off the reservation
who have no federal recognition, tribal affiliations, are not
affected by Title I.

However, they are eligible under Title II of

the Act.
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ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

I'm sorry.

the statement about the unwed father.
a little bit?
MR. TOYEBO:

I don't understand

Could you explain that to me

Whose paternity has not been established?
That's correct.

If the father has not recognized

the child as his or it has not been established, then he, in terms
of the jurisdictional procedure processes that the
parents has, he would not be eligible under T
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

I

s of the

le I of this Act.

see.

One other question, in terms of

organized groups, what does that mean?
MR. TOYEBO:

That needs some more clarification.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MR. TOYEBO:

By who?

think by the Indian people themselves.

I

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

As well as the clarification as far

as the law is concerned.
MR. TOYEBO:

That's correct.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

But there is nothing that you --

I mean you can't define what organized groups mean then?
MR. TOYEBO:

No sir, I can't.

I'm sure

probably some situations elsewhere in the
have organized groups of Indians that p
a

t

al organization.

ates where we

ly have some status as

don't interpret that to mean the

I

organizations such as we have ln
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ction

over cases already before the court.

Regarding child custody

proceedings, the provisions of this Act supercedes state law.
The Act sets minimum standards of protection of parents, rights
and child custody proceedings, but allows for the use of higher
federal or state standards, if any.
Although the Act clarifies the authority of tribal
courts, the procedures and standards of Title I are directed
toward state courts.
of these standards.

Indian courts may wish to adopt any or all
The only exception is that Indian tribes

must give full faith and credit to the acts of other Indian
tribal courts.
An Indian tribe, effective upon enactment of this
statute, has exclusive jurisdiction over any custody proceedings
involving an Indian child who resides, or is domiciled, on a
reservation or is a ward of a tribal court.

Where an Indian

child is not domiciled or residing on a reservation and a state
court is involved in foster care placement or termination of
parental rights, the Act requires such transfers of jurisdiction
if the following conditions are met:
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Let me stop you right there,

because it is a very lengthy presentation that you have.

What

we're interested in finding out is your experience with the law.
We're interested in trying to determine which Indians are, in fact,
covered by the law, which ones are not covered by the law, your
experience with the way that the State has implemented the law,
and any other recommendations that you could make in relationship
to the bill that is being authored by the Assemblyman.
28.

Those are some of the questions -- I mean we will make sure that
this is all part of the record.
leg

language, and I th

probably further confuse

It's very complicated.

tts

if you keep on going, you will
problem.

What we're interested

finding out is your experience with the law, the problems as you
see it here in California being that you are stationed or you
work here

California -- the problems

their falling under

h

certain groups have

law or falling by the waysi

and

not being covered under the law.
And one other question.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

Are there any federal or, for

that case, any funds available to the tribes for the care and
the placement of children within the tribal environment?
MR. TOYEBO:

I guess I'm interpreting the question

to read, does this Act provide any funds for family kinds of
services programs?

It makes provisions for it.

However, for

seal year 1980 there is no appropriation for it.
a tentative figure, $5.5 million for 1980, and
lementation of this Act on a national basis.

We have

at is for the
And the way

is going to be administered is the law requires that it be done
at whatever system is being used, it would be done on an equity
basis.

So, a

a has been developed

ications for grants from

which tribes that are

is Act will submit appli-

cations through the Bureau agency that has jurisdiction over
ir local tribe, up through an area o

ce which has primal

approval or rejection authority, and it will be sent to the
central office

will not be considered for funding.

29.

If the grant is okayed by the area office, the proposal will be
funded.

So how that breaks down, there is no special appropriation

as identified by areas.

There are 12 area offices throughout the

United States, Sacramento being an area office that has jurisdiction over those tribes that are native to the State of
California.

We have no figure specifically set aside for the

implementation of this Act for any area.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

Are there any requirements of

matching funds by the State of California?
MR. TOYEBO:

I'm sorry, I didn't understand your

question.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Are there any provisions for

matching funds by the State of California?
MR. TOYEBO:

The law makes provisions in which the

tribes can use the grant portion of this Act to match Title IV(b)
and Title XX of the Social Security Act, and any other Acts that
require a matching source or any other programs.
Now, in terms of the coverage of the Indian people that
is provided through this Act, it is specifically for Title I
purposes, which is the jurisdictional issue in child custody
proceedings.

It is exclusively for those tribes that have

federal recognition.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

How many in California do not have

federal recognition?
MR. TOYEBO:

In terms of Indians that would be eligible

for services from California, I really don't know.
have that data.

We don't

The data that we have is in terms of tribes,

30.

or Indians who would be eligible for services from the Bureau.
We don't have it broken down by those who are federally-recognized
or nonfederally-recognized.

This is a recent term.

It's a recent

concept that has come into being and our data has not been broken
down to reflect those kinds of categories.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MR. TOYEBO:
CHAI&~AN

When will your data be •.• ?

I don't know.

ALATORRE:

Well, how can you

lement the

law if you doh't know who you can provide the services for?
MR. TOYEBO:
governments.

Well, we have tribal rule, we have tr

al

There are 73 plus in the State of California that
tion, that have a constituted government

have federal reco

at

has a tribal enrollment and it is against this enrollment
formation that we would certify whether these Indians are elig

le

or not.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Excuse me.

In terms of the steps

you have taken to implement the law, maybe it would be help
to the Commit tee, to what ••.
MR. TOYEBO:

Yes sir.

I

think some background on

also may be helpful to the Committee.

It was mentioned by the

people who gave testimony before me that there was some concern
author of this legislation in terms of whether

on the part of
ans
comes to

C

ifornia would get

lementation of

a Public Law 280 State,
terms of p
Cali

rnia,

d

been

r consideration when it

is Act.

Because California is

attitude of the Department of Interio

social services to Indians in the State of
at

is is a 280 state.
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It is the

responsibility of a state to provide these services to the Indians
that are in the State of California.

Therefore, no consideration

was ever given to assessing a need or social service program for
the Sacramento area office.

As a result of that, the central

office is absent, I guess, of any kind of information that would
give a need kind of projection to them, and I think in terms of
this Act, the grant portion of the Act that provides the funds,
I'm hoping that tribal governments can assert themselves to the
central office deciding their needs in terms of the grant portion
of this Act.

There needs to be that kind of confrontation with

the central office in this respect.
As I mentioned earlier, I think the way their projecting the administration of the grant portion, California tribes
have a pretty good chance of getting funds under the grant portion.
And, what we plan to do in the Sacramento area is, before the
end of this month, we are providing a statewide meeting, the
Bureau of Indian Affairs is, for tribal chairmen to appraise them
of the Act, give them an assessment, hopefully, a comprehensive
understanding of the Act.

How it impacts the State.

How it

impacts their government and also provide them an opportunity to
come to a- consensus on a course of action in terms of what they
want to do to make use of the provisions of this Act, as well as
initiate some applications for the grant portion.
of work that needs to be done.

There is a lot

We have no tribal courts in

existence on any of our reservations, and if these tribes are
interested in utilizing the opportunity to become involved in
child custody proceedings, then the Bureau has a lot of work cut
32.

out for it, in terms of helping these tribes establish the courts
that are necessary to adjudicate those issues.
CHAifuv~N

ALATORRE:

In terms of the provisions of

AB 1041, I'd be interested in your impressions of it and any
recommendations that you would like to make to, not only the
author, by this Committee.
MR. TOYEBO:

Yes sir.

My initial response in reading

it is that a lot of, I guess, the intent and the language that is
in 1041 is covered pretty much by the federal act; and any kinds
of conflicts that would be between AB 1041 and the federal act, I
think the federal act would supercede -- whatever those issues are.
I mentioned before we have the issue of the nonfederally-recognized
Indians.

What I would recommend is that this bill would provide

a process in which the State could extend recognition to these
Indian tribes, but also make provisions for financial aids for
these tribes to go after federal recognition.

We do have a

process, now, in which tribes can petition the Secretary of
Interior for federal recognition.

We have the process, but there

are no provisions to give these tribes any financial assistance
to pursue that recognition.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Do you have any idea how many

groups or tribes are not covered under the federal law or
recognized by the fe
MR. TOYEBO:

ral provisions of the law?
Well, I can only guess, and I would

predicate that by saying California.
CHAI~¥~N

ALATORRE:

. TOYEBO:

That's all we!re talking about .

California, in terms of nonfederally-

33.

recognized Indians, has the greatest number of Indians that fall
into that category.

We have some figures that we refer to as our

service population which are 37 thousand or 36 plus.
than 7,000 living on Indian reservations.

We have less

So the vast majority

of those 37,000 are not reservation based.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

On your sheet that you gave us and

your testimony, you referred to -- it's not listed -- but it's
the census, the 1970 census and the adjusted census, and 1978
population estimates of national Indian groups, you have in the
neighborhood of 204,759 for 1978 alternative populations.
MR. TOYEBO:

Well, I think a clarification on the use

of these figures is given in the previous page.

The following

figures on Indian population illustrates the variety of population
claims and projections by various agencies and the diversity and
uncertainty when it comes to the Indian population in California.
I'm not that familiar with, or have that much confidence in, the
credibility of what's presented here.

And that's the reason why

I made that presentation was to highlight the issues and problems
we have in making those determinations.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
determinations?

How do we then make those

That's the problem.

MR. TOYEBO:

Well, I think what needs to be done is

probably this be cited as a major issue and that those agencies
that are concerned with it take the initiative and get a good
set of data that can be used by all agencies concerned
governments concerned.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Mr. Costa.

34.

ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:

I have some problems as to the

concept of this bill in the last statement you made.

As I

r-

stand it, what we are primarily trying to do is provide assistance,
a special procedure set up for adoption and for foster care for
I

an children.

Is that not the main thrust of this legislation?

MR. TOYEBO:

Yes sir.

ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:
was ta

Okay.

The last comment you made

ing about that 1041 might be used as a means or a

icle

to allow for state recognition of these tribes that maybe don't
exist or aren't recognized on that federal list that we talked
out earlier.

It seems to me if that is really one of the

intents, and I don't know if Tom wants to speak upon this, that
one of the ideas that they want to bring forth in terms of this
bill, then that ought to be basically spelled out, because it
seems to me you could use this vehicle as a means to do a lot of
other different things that may need to be done and should be.
, it seems to me we ought to get some clear direction
because

itself •.•
MR. TOYEBO:

One of the benefits from that particular

recommendation is that these Indians currently, as it's defined,
would not be eligible for services from the Bureau.
State could give
provide

k

If the

of recognition to these tribes and

assistance to them,

at would help them get federal

recognition -- it would be more to their benefit.

In the

regulations there is a language in there that tribes would be
elig

le if they are recognized as tribes by the state in which

ey resi

35.

CHAilli~AN

ALATORRE:

Ms. Moore and then Mr. Lockyer.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

The bill is very specific in its

definition of Indians and Indian tribes.

How would you go about

ascertaining those people, those descendants who are one-quarter
Indian blood to be defined as an Indian and subject to the
provisions of the bill?

Do you have any idea of how that would

work?
MR. TOYEBO:

Yes, we have a process set up in which we,

for any of our programs that require a certification of degree
of Indian blood, we have information that's needed in determining
the degree of Indian blood of that particular Indian -- that
particular individual.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

I guess what my concern is that

you're saying that someone who is one-quarter Indian blood would
be subject to the provisions of this bill, which has very specific
definitions of having to place this person with an Indian family
or an Indian tribe, which may indeed be in total conflict to the
other corporal portion of the other 75 percent of their blood.
And, I just wonder if it is your intent to make it that narrow,
Tom.
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

Well, I think my intent is to try

to cover as many people as we possibly can, and it's hard to,
particularly when you're entering this field for the first time,
I think we relied on the Indians with what they told us is
possible, and I think that the bill's scope is adequate.
really have a

I don't

I can't really respond other than to say I'm

ready to discuss that with the sponsors to see what their view
would be.
36.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

Well, my only concern is we're

talking about self-determination.

I mean we're talking about

someone with one-fourth Indian blood is determined to be an
Indian and therefore subject to the provisions of this bill and
limited in the placement aspect, that may be

con

ict.

I

think we have to provide safeguards for everybody that's involved.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Well, let me just say this, I'd 1

to just get to the questions.

I think many of the things that

might be coming up would be helpful to Tom and

s deliberations

on the bill, rather than asking questions right now, because I'm
sure there is going to be testimony which might bring up some
other areas of concern.
just continue on.

So I'd like to just, instead of that,

Mr. Lockyer.

ASSEMBLYMfu~

LOCKYER:

plementation so far of 608.

Perhaps you could speak to the

When you were referring to the fact

that the money is not yet appropriated for implementation, was
that your response to what efforts are being made to implement
the federal law?
. TOYEBO:

Yes sir.

What we're planning to do, later

on this month, is sponsor a meeting which would get tribal
vernment o

cials in, we'll brief them on the Act.

Hopefully,

they can come to a consensus on a course of action, particularly
terms of the establishment of tribal courts and, also, maybe
generate some applications that would be considered for funding.
That's the two major purposes of the Act, and that's the initial
steps that

is particular area has taken to implement the Act.

so, we have set

a system, with one of our branches at the

37.

area office, that will handle the notice requirements that the
Act requires in terms of notifying all Indian people concerned
with a child custody proceeding case.
ASSEMBLYMfu~

LOCKYER:

How will you do that -- the

county?
MR. TOYEBO:

Well, the regulations specify a process

that the Bureau has to go through, and that's one in which if the
State cannot establish the -- or locate the Indian people concerned in those proceedings, they notify the Secretary of Interior.
The Interior then makes its effort to identify the Indian people
that are concerned in this case, parents, grandparents, extended
family, tribal groups and, hopefully, make a determination of
that particular tribe, has a tribal court established and serve
them official notice that these proceedings are transpiring and
notify them of their rights.
We are in the process now of finalizing the application
process, procedures and forms in which tribes can make applications
for the grant portion of the Act.
ASSEMBLYMfu~

LOCKYER:

And those grants are principally

for the tribal court implementation or ••• ?
MR. TOYEBO:

That's part of it.

That's one of the

crucial aspects of the provision, and I'd like to reflect on
my experience in Indian Affairs and all the agencies that deal
with Indians.

One crucial thing is coming to the surface here

and that it is a responsibility of the tribal governments to
make whatever assessments are necessary in regard to whether it
is a tribal government, a social problem, educational problems;·
38.

make these kinds of assessments and come to a kind of comprehensive understanding of what their issues are, what their prio
are.

ties

Now, the provisions of this Act, I think, would allow tribal

governments to do this, because it once again points to the need
for these tribal people to make that kind of assessment in terms
of what does my tribe need, how are we going to approach it, what
are my priorities.

And, the Act would provide for the establi

ment of a court system, as well as other kinds of a vast variety
of family-services-kinds of programs.
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

Now, that court system current

does not happen in California.
MR. TOYEBO:

It does not exist.

That's correct.

That is one of the other recommendations I would make in terms
of this AB 1041 is that whatever the State is considering, I
think, there is a need for the state and the federal system to
get together on this, along with the tribes, to come to a system
that all of us can live with.
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

Do you think that tribal court

system is a good thing to do?
MR. TOYEBO:

Yes.

ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

Okay.

Charles, how long have

been in the Sacramento area?
S

e 1970.

I've been working with the

Bureau since 1960.
ASSEMBLYV~N

LOCKYER:

MR. TOYEBO:

Yes sir.

ASSEMBLYMAN

CKYER:
39.

Okay, and a long time here.

What do you hear about or see

about the adoption and foster care systems that seem to have a
particularly harmful impact on the Indian children in California?
MR. TOYEBO:

Well, it hasn't been until the passage of

this federal bill that we have taken any of that kind of interest
on the part of the Bureau.

I'm sure that there is a lot of

concern there, and in my getting involved with it, one of the
things that particularly was of interest to me was some figures
were projected, and I don't know how credible those figures are,
but it had indicated that within a five or six-year period,
within this decade, there were, I think, right around 1,200 or
1,300 children that were placed for adoption alone.

That doesn't

include foster care placements, and that's a considerable number
of Indians.
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:
MR. TOYEBO:

That's just here in California, yes.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:
MR. TOYEBO:

This was just in California?

And what was the time span?

It is within this decade.

I think it was

from about '70 or '72, up to the present time.
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

It's over a several year period?

That's adoption, not •.• ?
MR. TOYEBO:

Just adoption alone, not foster care.

ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

So, you think there is a

serious problem of Indians being separated from their ethnic
heritage, families, extended family system and so on.
MR. TOYEBO:

Yes sir.

ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

Can you tell me something about

the origin or PL 608 that is -- what the debate was or who the

40.

or sponsors of the legislation?
MR. TOYEBO:
ASSEMBLY~~N

can.

I'm sorry, but I can't respond.
LOCKYER:

Okay.

I'm trying to get up to date.

Perhaps someone later
I

had a college roommate,

Jerry Berman, who wrote a book that was 10-15 years ago, kind of
an analysis and critique of BIA.
education ended on

And, since that is when my

is issue, I'm trying to

gure out how does

is law fit into the general evolution of U.S. programs and law
wi

respect to treatment of Native Americans.
MR. TOYEBO:

One of the things I see in it, and it

depends on how innovative the Indian people are and how innovative
the Bureau process is in utilizing this Act.

I think it provides

a means by which tribes can make the assessments of what they
need.

And also, it would give tribal government o

cation of what the priorities are.

i

als an

We do go through a

process, the Bureau goes through a process, where we involve
t

al governments

use

setting budget priorities.

And they can

is means if they know where they're going, where they're

coming from, what they want to do.

When they approach this

process, they'll do it on a more informed basis and their
decisions will be based upon that.
SEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:
to work,

Right.

Have you personally had

context of your job, wi

artment

lks

d to get

?

placement of Indians?

TOYEBO:

No sir.

41.

the county welfare
Is that anything you

ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

Mr. Chairman, can I ask a question?

I guess my concern goes back to the question of the protection
afforded to California Indians who are not officially recognized
as part of a tribe, and that was really the thrust of the bill,
because we believe that some of the jurisdictional things can be
handled through the Commission.

I'm wondering what your attitude

about that would be and what your comments would be in relation
to this bill in its attempt to deal with those Indians who are
not in officially-recognized tribes?
MR. TOYEBO:

I think that is one of the recommendations

I made, that this bill addresses itself to that issue.
it is a crucial issue.

I think

I don't know how familiar the Committee

is here with the history as it applies to

Califo~nia

Indian

tribes, and because of this history, we got people who should have
federal recognition, who should be eligible for Bureau services
and the benefits that come from any agency because of their
status of Indians.

They don't have that.

ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

Are there any federal provisions

that cover people who are not officially recognized in a tribe?
MR. TOYEBO:

In some of our programs, education

programs ••.
CHAI~~N

ALATORRE:

But not in the area you are

talking about.
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

I think that the federal Act has

that bifurcated congressional system where they authorize money
and then they specifically appropriate it.

42.

ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

I guess they've authorized it,

but haven't been able to appropriate it.
CHAifu~N

ALATORRE:

That is supposed to be in the

appropriation part of the budget.

Okay, are there any other

stions?
LOCKYER:

ASSEMBLYY~N

There are, I believe, about

6,000 adoptions totally each year

ate of California.

Does that seem reasonable to anyone?
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

total.

Not

In reference to

the Department, I don't know.
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

Just to get a sense of what piece

of that this might be.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Thank you very much.

artment of Social Services.

tives of the

The Representa-

As was mentioned

the letter that was sent to the Director, what we would be
erested in is your assessments of the law and what you've done
as far as the implementation of the law, and also any re
tions you might have in relationsh
by Assemblyman Bates.
ever you want.

to the bill being sponsore

So, if you can just get started wi

If you could just give us your name

r

record, p ease.
I'm Mary Sullivan.
ef for

r

did you want

a tor

artment of Social Services.

State

rest of the panel introduced?

Bl
0

I'm the

Go
r

te

is

Indian

artment of

3.

ci

Se

ild
ces.

1

Co-

ions

I have prepared testimony that we will be providing to
the Committee members, but much of it has been covered by the
previous people who have been testifying. So, I thought that
rather than going through that, I would just pick up some of the
comments that were not perhaps touched upon or questions that had
been raised by the Committee.
The Federal Indian Child Welfare Act affects two programs
that the Department of Social Services has administrative responsibility for:

adoption and foster care.

And, as it was indicated,

it was enacted on November 8, 1978, but the regulations were
adopted, federal regulations were adopted effective August 30,
1979.

So, the Act is unique in that it establishes nationwide

procedures for state courts in the handling of Indian child placement.

And, it establishes Indian child and family service programs.

The federal statute, as you have heard, does not apply to all
Indian children, but only to those children who are members of,
or eligible to be members of, federally-recognized tribes or
Alaskan native villages, and who come under the jurisdiction of
state courts.
Our primary concern at the moment is with Title I of
the Act, which is the piece of the Act that deals with child
custody proceedings.

Administratively, we have been reviewing

the federal law and regulations in order to develop procedures
that will accommodate voth the federal act and the California
State law.

From the standpoint of ongoing program operations in

adoptions and foster care, that's the most critical aspect for us
of the Act, because the state courts are required to invoke the

44.

Act in the individual adoption or foster care matters that
comes before the court.

, because of the urgency of

at ions

ose re

matter, we have designated the implementation of
as a priority

is

r the Department.

Some of the significant requirements of the Act, whi
are not in California law or regulations, are as follows:
It mandates
tervene

right of

I

for foster care and ter-

state court procee

ion of parental ri

an child's tribe to

ts.

It extends the requirement of notice

involuntary

proceedings to the child's tribe and the Indian custodian, as
well as the parent.
It mandates

at the social and cultural standards of

the relevant Indian community are to be used in making any
placement, and
It establishes a set of standards before removal of a
ild for foster care or termination of parental ri
o

ts can be

red.
The court must have clear and convincing evidence

considering foster care placements.

That cont

d custody by

parents or custodian is likely to result in serious emotional
or

ical

ge to the child.

r or not
ild.

e placement

Rather than using the test of
best

terests of

ce beyond a reasonable doubt

e

a case of pro-

ceeding to terminate parental rights rather than the Califo

a

standard of clear and convincing.
VO

ild custody proceedings, any consent to
45.

foster care or adoption must be executed in writing before a judge
and is not valid if given prior to 10 days after the birth of a
child.

The judge must certify that the terms and consequences of

the consent were fully explained to and understood by the parents.
The California law does not require the judicial witnessing of
voluntary consent.
Consent to termination of parental rights or adoptions
may be withdrawn for any reason before the final decree of
adoption.

California law permits a person to petition the court

for withdrawal of consent, but does not have the automatic provision for return of the child to the parent upon petition.

And,

it establishes an order of preference in placing a child for
adoption or foster care in a member of the child's extended
family, other members of the Indian child's tribe, or other
Indian families.

We currently do not have such placement standards

in state statutes.
There are other requirements which are more technical
in nature such as recordkeeping and required documentation.
It is important to note that one of the most significant provisions of the Act, that is the provision which vests
exclusive jurisdiction of child custody proceedings in the tribal
courts, in a case where the Indian child involved is residing
within a reservation, does not apply in California, because such
jurisdiction has been placed with the state courts under the
federal law, 83-280.

And, there has been reference to that

particular law.

46.

The Act, however, does require that the state court
trans

r juris

ction to a tr

al court, in cases of foster care

or termination of parental rights, unless there are parental
jections or the tribal court refuses.

Although there are no

tribal courts in California, there may be tribal courts in ot

r

states that would be designated the proper court of jurisdiction
r a

ild coming

testimony,

re one of our courts.

s could

ange in Cali

As noted

r

rnia if there were petitions

to reassume jurisdiction and child custody.
We have two areas of concern:

one is

provision

r

the Indian parent to withdraw a voluntary consent to adoption for
any reason up to the point of the final adoption decree, with the
mandate that the court shall return the child to the parent.
The implication for potential adoptive parents se
ildren is great.

cted for such

Under California law, the consent once taken

in independent adoptions may only be withdrawn with the approval
of the court, and the court, however, may take under review
past petition, the child's situation, and make the order based
upon the interest of the child.
by a parent and
if both
teet

parent and the agency concur.

c
O.L

_,_os

1

shment si

d with the Department may only be resc

adoptive parents, wi
1
SK

And, the rel

the

i

d
d

Without such

whom a child has been placed, are

up to the po

of

adoption

decree.
SEMBLYMA~

federal law, not wi
of

e

LOCKYER:
someth

Now that's a concern you have w1
out which we have

hili
4 7.

measure

MS. SULLIVAN:

Yes.

The California law says that the

relinquishment is final and binding, and that we have those
protections, but when you get into court, the court could invoke
the federal law.
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

And, presumably the federal

statute preempts us?
MS. SULLIVAN:

In the courts, yes.

The second area of concern is related to implementation
of the order of placement preference.

The order of placement

preference for Indian children can be readily incorporated into
regulations, in contrast to our concern regarding the right to
withdraw voluntary consent.

However, these provisions imply that

there is opportunity for prior agency judgment in selecting a
placement, and frequently this is not the case.

There are factors

which affect placement decisions beyond the control of the agency.
A number of complex situations come up in which it is necessary to
consider what is meant in the Act by good cause to contrary, in
relation to the order of placement preference.
have been brought to our

Examples, which

attention thus far, include long term

foster care of an Indian child, which does not meet the adoptive
placement criteria, independent adoptive placements by the
parent, which is contrary to the placement preference, the expressed preference between Indian and non-Indian parents for
their child, and the placement of siblings where one or more of
the children is not of Indian descent and the family with whom
they are living does not meet the criteria.

The steps the

Department has taken, so far, to implement the statutes are,
48.

through an all-county letter in May, we advised the agencies of
the Act to make copy of the Act itself and speci

cally requested

adoption agencies establish a registry of Indian children
under adoptive care, and advise the Department about the number
of children included in the registry.

On June 26, 1979, a letter

was sent out to all the public and private agencies with a listing
of

I

an tr

al o

government, acco
Addi

izations reco
to

fe

ral

deral registry of February 16, 1979.

onally, we have called the attention to the basic provisions

of the Act, especially
pro

ized by

e placement provision,

we have

ded consultation in individual cases.
Act is not

The number of children affected by
large.
and p

Based upon reports received from nearly all of the public
vate adoption agencies, there were 95 Indian children

identi

ed as receiving adoption services.

And, according to a

characteristic survey in September of 1977, there are

American-

335

askan native children in foster care.
CHAIRV~N

placed

ALATORRE:

Of those 325, how many of

ose were

homes where native Americans were the head of the

usehold?

MS. SULLIVAN:
cert

ly could check

prov

d

at k
I

what

We

the Department to see if the survey

of a breakdown.
ALATORRE:

Now, do you have any idea as to

policy has been in the past, not necessarily

artment, but
social services
r1can

I do not have that statistic.

il

t's say the various county
relationship in try
nat ve

ric an
49.

artments of

to place native
ster

the

s?

MS. SULLIVAN:

In terms of adoption, there has always

been an attempt to place the child in that type of setting.
We're not always successful and it has not been a policy to hold
the child in care while you found the family.
always been successful in adoption.

So, we've not

In foster care, I don't know

that there has been a specific policy set down.

A lot would

depend upon the availability of the homes and the availability of
being able to place in those homes that were licensed.
no specific mandate to them.

There is

Nor is there a specific mandate at

this point to the adoption agencies, and certainly not in terms
of the order of preference.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

How about just in terms of policy?

What has been the policy?
MS. SULLIVAN:

It would be a good policy in adoptions

to attempt •••
CHAI&~

ALATORRE:

I understand it's a good policy,

but the problem -- but the point that I'm trying to determine
is whether, in fact, good policy has, in fact, taken place or
whether, in fact, the problems that have prompted this legislation are, in fact, real or imagined.
MS. SULLIVAN:

I would say that the need for recruiting

adoptive homes and foster homes with Indian background to make
placement is necessary to carry out the policy, and you will find
that we have not been successful in placing Indian children with
Indian families.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Now do you think that as a result

of the legislation, the federal legislation, your ability to

50.

implement it, that more time is going to be spent trying to
accomplish what you consider to be good policy and what I would
agree would be good policy?
MS. SULLIVAN:

Yes.

The thrust would be to develop

and enlarge the pool of Indian parents for potential placements.
That is not really included in the federal Act, but, in order to
lement the kind of regulations we will

velop, there will

be a requirement.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

In terms of the bill, I'd be

interested in your observations about any recommendations you
would make about the bill which is before us which has prompted
this hearing, and what your feelings are about it and any
recommendations you would make to improve it.
MS. SULLIVAN:

At the moment, we are looking at

implementing federal regulations that mandates us to do certa
ings.

That will give us a lot of experience in terms of the

fficulties, the problems, the procedural things that we need
to work out.

The federal Act is very specific in terms of a

group that is covered and affected by it.

We've had di

culty

identifying who is or is not covered by the federal Act.

We

are not, at this position, to know what impact it would have if
you were to extend the Act beyond that, but I thi
deral Act

our listening

our expe

ence

hearing the kind of

testimony that is going to be presented before your group today
would give us that kind of ...

51.

But you
ut
e

solicit

11

or individuals that are

re you p

gate the

s and re

re to testi

ations?

Yes.
1
MS. B

IN:

-----------------------to

t.

te

Yes, I d 1

to

ss

elf

Because of Mr. Woods, our Director's concern,

Native-Americans were not really getting the services that o
ority gro
barg

s were gett

on the marke

ir

abili

to

lace for any number of reasons, he establish-

ed a special section for
bill, of In

g because of

r

an services.

the context of

is

an Child Welfare Act, we have four outreach Native-

American workers, who do go to the reservations and to Indian
homes to find out if there are available people who want to t
In

an children.
In one of the reservations in Quachon, which is Fort

Yuma, and falls between the cracks, even though they are American
Indians, the California Indian Bureau does not service them.
oenix, Arizona services them.
ir chil

And their concern was that

were being taken off of the reservation because

re were no available facilities there, and sent to Mormon
homes in Yuma, Arizona.

So, these are the problems that have

really existed in the past and have focused upon the need for
In

ans to find

an homes for their children.

ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:
MS. GOLDSTEIN:

When does it begin?

It has already begun.

We already

have the process going where our outreach worker, we have

52.

an from the Hupa Reservation,

workers, one from Hupa, an
one
0

ervation,

La

one from the

strict, who are, in

land, your

an area o

, out trying to

available homes for adoptive arid for foster home care for
Indian children.

LOCKYER:

ASS

IN:
me -- Ba

ara,

is

0

It started,

at was

e

at se

e

er of av

1

ce.
o mentioned,
re has never

because it does involve social services, and
been a focus to really provi

special social services to

Americans who were so sorely

reservation In

ans

ing

that re

ansion of this

should

PL 280 that directly gives

s State to give to Indians.

social services to

e

need of them, especially

dians -- I don't know why I

urban

leave them out.

that's someth

June 1

le people who

May I refer to the PL 280 that Mr.

Nat

excuse

's see
at was started?

t

have a

ar, and we

want to give

did that start?

ly should be t

into consideration,
think we

ild welfare law, because

out why,

And, I

an Bureau, there aren't speci

monies given for social services for reservation and urban

0

some

ans,

because

ces

at are

at tit

l

not

ave
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o

for

is
to
ems

to get their
because of

at emanate from wel

se sensitivities.
to

the future.

I

inds of
cultural

re departments
it would be

c

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

What I'm interested in from any

one of you is any recommendations that you would make, because
we have jurisdiction of this bill and this is what we're concerned
about.

There are probably some major problems in the federal Act,

but I'm more concerned with this piece of legislation and how we
could make it a workable kind of bill and something that would
better provide the opportunities that are, of course, needed.
MS. GOLDSTEIN:

Right.

I think because the services

in our Department are so new in the focus toward Native-Americans
that further testimony from people who are really involved in
this will probably help you.

I'm sorry that we don't have that

information for you.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

This bill has been in print for

how long?
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Since March.
Alright, since March, so I'm sure

your legislative section has had an opportunity of studying the
bill.

I'm interested in what position you have taken, if you

have taken any, and what recommendations you would make.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:
line?

Can I ask a question along that

You indicated what appears to be a significant problem,

and you indicated that one of the problems that the outreach
workers were responding to was that there were no available
resources to the reservation for them to even be able to keep
the children if they wanted to.

Can you think of any means

by which this bill could be used as a vehicle to maybe develop
some funds or some grants or something to reservations?
54.

MS. GOLDSTEIN:
ASSEMBLYWO~~N

Yes, Assemblyperson.
MOORE:

MS. GOLDSTEIN:

Assemblywoman.

Assemblywoman-- tt1at is a concern

that really should be taken into consideration by

is Committee,

because the future welfare of the child who will be placed into
either a foster or adoptive home, the benefits to that child
into consideration whe

need to be t
his background,

should direct its

e child, because of

total amount of services

11 be getting

at other children get.

r

And, I don't know whether this bill

f to that, but really when I say, Mr.

Chairman, this is new to our Department, and we are looking

o

ways to give Native-Americans better services and to tie them
o all the federal funds and to what is corning to them, we
still have a long way to go.

We've only started this, so I

really cannot address myself to that.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

Well, as a 280 state, do we

any jurisdiction over the reservations in terms of allocating
the same kind -- do we subject them to the same k
we re

of licens

re of other foster homes, and if so, do we provi

same kind of financial assistance and allowances and so
, as we do for other homes?
LIVA~:

My understanding is part of what the

280 Act did was to place

state court
be

r

al

c

an

t

civil actions wi
courts, so

same standards, and obviously,

reservat on wou

be eli

Cali

ts, and

rnia resi

r

at

t

ss.

same se

at we would

dians on a
ces as other

provision of Title II

vour
,;

federal Act which spoke to the establishment
and children services with an appropriation.

o!

special families

Part of th&t

language was to build on the existing state services and to assure
that there would not be a reduction of current state services with
the addition of new federal monies for services.

But that

important provision, that piece of the Act, when enacted was not
appropriated -- was not funded, whatever.

I would say in terms

of the state interests, that we would have programmatically an
important thrust recruitment of the Indian parents for both
foster care and adoptions.

I think that's crucial to the

resolution of the problem.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Well, I'm interested also in your

position in relationship to the bill.
MS. SANDY KLAGGE:
neutral position.

Our position, Mr. Chairman, is a

We are not in •••

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Well, that's all fine and good.

I mean this is the purpose of this hearing--to try and elicit
any recommendation.
MS. KLAGGE:

Our recommendation is that the thrust

of the bill be for recruitment of parents for adoptive children
and for foster homes.
CHAIR~~N

ALATORRE:

Okay.

ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

Any questions?

Do you suggest doing that with

the 10 officers, would be Indian, that would do that outreach?
MS. KLAGGE:

Today is the first time we heard about

10 officers.

56.

MS. GOLDSTEIN:
of us

It's our feeling, however, I mean those

o are working with Native-Americans could give services to

their own people, because as I ve said before and discussed, the
lack of sensitivity that may come from some of the welfare departments and people who should understand the Indian culture but don't.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Mr. Costa.

ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:

How would t

people fit

wi

se ten proposed

the four that are already performing this

outreach program?
MS. GOLDSTEIN:

Well, the four who are already do

the outreach work are hired for a year.
No, they are not CETA workers.

They are CETA workers.

They are in a special grant,

I'm sorry, and because there was not this kind of service, it was
determined by Mr. Woods that this would be a fine way to start
to find out how many available homes there were, what the attit
was

ings from the count

s, and this is what they are doing.

I have one of the outreach workers who is here now.

Perhaps, if

you want to discuss it with her, maybe she could tell her what
r

is and how s

attitudes

are

goes about it, and what some of the

th the Indian people.
R~iliN

ALATORRE:

MS. GOLDSTEIN:

Or we'll hear it a

erwards.

Yes.
Yes.

ASSEMBLYWJl~

really like
to work

e

th us

established.

S:

On that point I guess I would

artment, since we did present a new proposal,
the concept of having

I gather you are not opposed to

e officers
at concept of

having 10 people established for the purpose of working with
Indians ••• ?
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
opposed to it.

The administration might be

It costs money.

ASSEMBLY~~

BATES:

And then, would you work with

us in terms of the number that would be required?

In other

words, we figured that 10 is good and we'd like, at this hearing,
to work with the Department on that issue.

I think it is a good

direction, because it really deals with the tribes that are not
federally-recognized, and I don't know how you are going to get
around that.

I mean I'd like them to get recognition, but that's

a problem that I don't think we can solve.

So, I gather that

what you've heard of the bill, you would be in support of the
concept of the 10 and the commission which would look at the
jurisdictional things.
MS. GOLDSTEIN:

Right.

I think the more Native-

Americans you involved in the process, the better it is.

After

all, they have to determine what is best for them.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
Rachel Nabahe.

Okay, thank you very much.

Could give us your name for the record.

MS. RACHEL NABAHE:

Mr. Chairman, members of the

Committee, my name is Rachel Nabahe.

I am the American Indian

Coordinator in the Governor's Office of Planning and Research,
and with me is Mike Wells, also of my office.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

We would appreciate the responses

we've asked you for, basically the overview of the problems as a
result of foster care and adoption faced by Indian children.
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Your overview of the problems as a result of foster care and
an children.

adoption faced by

Your overview as far as

populations, groups, and the summary of the areas in which
federal and Indian Welfare Acts of 1978 have failed to provide
adequately for the Native-Arne
MS. NABAHE:

Surveys conducted in the states with

large Indian populations have s
1 I

an chil

this State.

can children here

reservation,

urban, o

bo

1

25 to 35 percent of

that

their

the reservation community are taken away

1

At least 85 percent of these children are subjected to placements
non-Indian environments.

Since 1970 until last year, 1,000

ldren in California have been adopted through public

Indian

and private agencies.

I know a lot of people put emphasis on

signi

ers, but

cance of that number to our population

ready have a very small population, and so,
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ds of children are very signi

ds and

cant to the

an communities.
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a, I've been listen
is eligible to

s

&

participate, at least in the federal legislation.

I maintain that,

under Title II of the federal legislation, Indians in California,
meaning Indians -- I'm reading from the regulations -- the governing body of an Indian tribe or tribes or any Indian organization,
including

multi-service Indian centers may apply individually or

as a consortium for grant for services under Title II of the
legislation.

I think, again, that would apply to off-reservation

tribes, reservations that are not federally-recognized, as well as
off-reservation organizations.
Under Title I, when they were talking about the reassumption of jurisdiction over child custody proceedings, that's
something that state legislation could not offer to tribes as far
as the Secretary of Interior acknowledging a petition for reassumption, and so state legislation could not address that or
extend that to off-reservations and nonfederally-recognized
tribes.

But under Title II, those organizations are eligible to

participate.
The legislation came about primarily as a result of
the

Ame~ican

1975.

Indian Policy Review Commission's report in 1974 and

That Commission was established by the U.S. Congress to

address the needs and problems of the American Indians in the
United States.

They spent a great deal of time addressing the

child welfare issues and their recommendation was that legislation be enacted to protect the rights of Indian children.
that is the history of the child welfare legislation.
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:
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Who carried it?

And,

MS. NABAHE:
strong statements.

Senator Aborrez.

In fact, he's made some

In fact, I have a book that I want to leave

with you on recommendations for the implement of the federal

ild

welfare legislation and he does the forward and introduction.
ASSEMBLYM-AN

M~CKYER:

He's no longer

Congress, as

you know.
MS. NABAHE:

He's no longer in Congress, ri

ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

Partly because of the statements

he made on a variety of issues.

Who did it on the House side, do

you recall?
MS. NABAHE:
side.

I don't recall who carried it on the House

My recommendations, at least a summary of the areas that

the Child Welfare Act of 1978 has failed
that because we're

California.

I feel

ght in the process of implementation, it is

really kind of early to be making determinations in that area.
As far as input and recommendations for state legislation, I feel
that state legislation should address the gaps or tie down the
loose ends that the

deral legislation does not address, and

we don't know what those gaps or those areas are at this
1- •

~lme.

fede

We have some concerns about the implementation of the
legislation in this State, but we have been working with
artment of Social Services to address those areas.

have any recommendations or any observations about
MS. NABAHE:
the

deral le

slation

1041?

In some areas, there is a conflict wi
its present form.
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CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Tell us where the conflicts are.

MS. NABAHE:

There is an area they're talking

Okay.

about the Director of Social Services having the authority to
make the determination of tribes, I guess assumption -- reassumption
of child custody matters.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MS. NABAHE:

That's a conflict with federal law?

That's a conflict with the federal law,

and that's an area of concern.

I think some of the procedures

for the delivery of services, specifically talking about direct
funding to tribes and organizations, I think that the state law
could address that.
about.

But that is the one area that I was concerned

Other than that, that's the critical area of conflict.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Now, in relationship to the

recommendations that were made as possible proposals of amendments on the Indian child welfare officer, do you have any
observations about that?
MS. NABAHE:

Well, some of the feedback and some of

the testimony indicate that the child welfare office or those
that have th.e responsibility for the implementation of the
state law would concentrate on those Indians that are not covered
by the federal law.

But certainly a child welfare officer should

have the responsibility for Indian child welfare issues and so,
I think that officer would also be responsible for implementing
or overseeing the implementation of the federal legislation.
CHAI~N

ALATORRE:

MS. NABAHE:

How about where there are conflicts?

That's what I don't think should happen.
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CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

In other words, you feel that it

should be consistent with federal law.
MS. NABAHE:

Should be consistent with federal law,

and in fact, my feeling is that the State could make a determination that offers the same protection to those Indians under the
legislation that are not currently covered under the federal
legislation.

Well, under

the State real

t

II, Indians are protected, and

could not offer the reassumption of juris-

diction to other Indians, but certainly

rough Section 109

under Title I of the federal law, it allows for state agreements
with Indian tribes, and I think that that is one area where
states could offer that same protection to other Indian tribes
and organizations is through state agreements, which is addressed
in the federal law under Section 109.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Okay.

ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

Any questions.

Would you comment on the need

for a new Indian Child Welfare Commission?
MS. NABAHE:

I think, first of all, the authority

at commission needs to be defined, and if it is to address all
In

an child welfare matters in the State, then the makeup of that

Committee is extremely critical because of, again, the jurisction

issues that the tribes have to address, then the

t ibal government will have to be fairly represented on there
because of the j

sdictional issues.

I do have some concerns

that ...
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER.
pe

or s

g if you're go

63.

Doesn't that make it a 100
to

irly represent the

MS. NABAHE:

Because tribal governments are different

tribal governments and are separate and represent themselves.

You

know that has to be explored, and •••
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

You're wondering -- I'm wondering

and you're perhaps suggesting that seven people may not be able
to adequately represent these Indian communities in California.
MS. NABAHE:

Yes, and then the process for selection

has to be carefully addressed.

I think child welfare matters do

not belong in a political arena.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
make?

What recommendations would you

I mean how do you take it out of the political arena?
MS. NABAHE:

That tribal governments should all have

the opportunity to make nominations as well as individual
organizations, and non federally-recognized organizations.

Now

the selection process does put it into the political arena.

I

think another way that could be addressed is certainly a
committee of the Legislature to oversee the implementation of
any federal legislation and any state legislation and reporting
back to the Legislature is also another way that that could be
addressed.
CHAI&~N

ALATORRE:

So, you're not that hot on the

idea?
MS. NABAHE:

I think certainly a commission could

perform some very valuable contributions as far as overseeing the
welfare of Indian children, but a commission, unless it has very
strong authority, could also not be in the best interests of the
total community.

So, if a commission is established, it has to have

some very strong authority.
64.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
now?

What is the commission you have

Is that in the best interest of the community - Native

American Heritage Commission or whatever you call it?
MS. NABAHE:

We do have a Native-Arne

can Heritage

Commission, and that specifically addresses the heritage issue:;,
and they have been addressing the heritage issues.
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

Wouldn't

advise the

Governor or the Legislature on the status of the Indian family
and Indian children and possible programs for improving their
status.

They would not, the Heritage Commiss
MS. NABAHE:

deals with ...

The Heritage Commission de

s 1vith sacred

sites, archeological sites, preservation of those kinds of •..
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MS. NABAHE:

In other words the j

sdictiona~

The jurisdiction is limited.

..•

It doesn t

extend to child welfare issues.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MS. HABAHE:

Or any other .••

Or any other social issues, exactly.

ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

Is that created by executive

order?
MS. NABAHE:
CHAI&~fu~

That's established by the

ALATORRE:

pretty sure.

That was Keene's bill - Barry

Ms. Moore.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:
ments currently

Are there very many state agree-

existence between the state and tribes?

MS. NABAHE:

Not very many, but in the last few months

in several areas, where there has been conflict
areas, we have

Legislatun:~.

ilitated t

jurisdictional

communication between the tribal
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governments and the appropriate state agency, and are working on
state agreements.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:
MS. NABAHE:

We being OPR?

Yes.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Maybe it would be helpful that you

would maybe assist the author on it.

Do you have any other

questions, Mr. Bates?
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:
comments.

No, I don't.

I appreciate the

I think that we still get back to the question that

the Indians are not federally-recognized and trying to get the
State to move in that area to provide the framework to handle the
child welfare questions.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

The question is, I guess, the

problew, and I think what she raised, is how do you do it?
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES.

I think I would like her to explore

the idea of the welfare officers, I think that's a compromise.

It

has come from the Indian communities, it's not something we have
dreamed up, which actually settles, at least doesn't deal with
the question of jurisdiction and allows the commission to work on
the question of having a federal determination of tribes or
authorized by the federal government, recognized by the federal
government.
CHAI~1AN

ALATORRE:

But the commission can't make any

authorizations as to who is recognized and who is not recognized.
The Secretary of Interior is the one that has that jurisdiction.

66.

ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

Well, we would hope they would

develop policy, which we really don't have in this State, particularly when you have tribes that are located on five different
parts of the State.

I mean how do you determine?

You know, it's

difficult to pull that together and have it recognized.

I think

it could work on these issues, it would be very helpful not only
at the state level but at the federal level.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MS. NABAHE:

Thank you very much.

Okay, thank you.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

We will be breaking for lunch and

will return at 1:30.
-------------------RECESS--------------------CHAI~MAN

Are they here?

ALATORRE:

Is Mr. Joe Carillo, Art Martinez ...

Fine.

MR. ART MARTINEZ:

If it is all right with the Chair,

I'd like for Linda Hughes to accompany me.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MR.

~~RTINEZ:

Give us your name for the record.

My name is Art Martinez.

In listening

to the testimony of this morning, it has occurred to me that one
of the things that has been lacking that I think we failed to come
to grips with in this morning's testimony is the dramatic need
for the types of goals that this bill is addressing.

Briefly, to

over some of those, the Indian children that will be removed
from their homes and placed in adoptive and foster care homes is
610 percent more often than non-Indian children in the State of
Cali

rnia.

That represents, on an overall time scale, that 25

to 35 percent of the Indian children, in

67.

State of California

will be removed from their families, and out of those, 85 percent
will be raised by non-Indians.

I think that and some other very

basic facts is one of the things that we're trying to address with
this law.

And, it's one of the things that has been overwhelmingly

brought out in the meetings that have been held statewide in the
Indian communities.
One of the other things that has come out and that I
think this bill is an attempt to deal with is that almost half of
the Indian population in the State of California will not get
direct services from the federal legislation.

That arises because

of the non-federal status of some of the Indian people native to
California, but also, that the people who are from out of state,
the urban Indians and rural Indians, that come to us from other
nations and other Indian nations and from other states, will have
services, hopefully, set up for them.
set up wherever their tribal lands are
base is.

But those services will be
wherever their land

So, for instance, a child whose family is from

Minnesota, who finds themselves in a child removal custody battle
or whatever in Los Angeles, will have to refer to their reservation
and tribal courts in Minnesota in order to get justice.

And, one

of the things that is overwhelming in the evidence about Indian
people and the affects of child removal on Indian people is the
lack of ability of Indian people to deal with the bureaucracy
that comes down upon them when they're put into these positions.
This is an added bureaucracy that we need to deal with somehow,
and the only way that those can be dealt with is in the form of
direct services, helping people sort it out and helping the

68.

workers sort it out.

In many cases, the workers themselves don't

know how they are going to deal with all these facets, especially
within the time constraint that is legally mandated by the State.
So, what we have done, we have had meetings throughout the State
to get feedback on the bill and on the basic issues from the people
in the Indian community.

And, based on those meetings, we have

been able to kind of get a feel and kind of get a sense of urgency
of the importance that these issues be addressed, and based on
that, I was hoping that we could help you answer some of the
questions that you have had earlier if you care to redirect them
to us.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Well, I think most of us on this

Committee understand the need, but I guess the problem is how do
you meet that need?

And, when you have federal legislation that

has difficulty even in being able to identify those who are eligible
more or less those who are not eligible, I'd be interested in
where you got your statistics as to the numbers here in California
that are not eligible and how did you arrive at those statistics?
MR. MARTINEZ:

The numbers in California -- you see

it's a question of the law.

The people are eligible.

The vast

majority of Indian people living in the State of California will
be eligible under the federal law.

But as to whether or not

se services will actually be delivered to them is another
thing.

If they are eligible and they have the rights guaranteed

to them under the law and those rights are guaranteed through a
mechanism that is maybe a thousand or two thousand miles away,
their ability to utilize that is going to be hindered, and that's
69.

where the greatest need for these Indian child welfare officers
is and someone to help the families and help the workers sort all
is out.

I know you have been asking about where the money for

all this will come, whether it's federal or state responsibility.
One of the things that had occurred to me, sitting in
the audience, would be a form of sunset legislation written into
the bill where the State might say that these are the services
that are needed and the State will maintain these services over
so many years, or until the federal government can assume responsibility for these services.

I think that would let a lot of

the concerns off the hook as far as having kind of a dependent
for life in the State's eyes.
MS. LINDA HUGHES:
Council.

I'm Linda Hughes, Inner-tribal

I'd like to state that the Inner-tribal Council has

assisted the Assembly of California Indian Women in coordinating
five statewide workshops on the legislative process using 1041
as a model, and the comments received stressed that they wish
it to provide a mechanism to implement the federal bill and to
extend the application of the law to those Indians who are not
covered by establishing the Child Welfare Commission and the 10
Indian child welfare officers.

It was first stated that the

Commission should have a tribal chairman, tribe workers, and
various others so we don't get just one person trying to implement
it and making all these comments, that it needs to be from the
people.

It should be reflected by the people on the Commission

and that the Indian Child Welfare Officer should be of Indian
descent.

That's basically all that I want to say.
70.

Connie

Reitman will be following up with some other testimony.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
thank you very much.

Okay, any questions?

Erin Forrest.

Connie Reitman.

Very good,
If you

could give us your name for the record.
MS. CONNIE REITMAN:

My name is Connie Reitman.

I'm

the President Pro-Tem of the Assembly of California Indian
Women.

Basically, what I wanted to do is to provide you some

information which our organization has been able to put together
during our recent participation and support of five statewide
meetings in which time we provided a forum for Indian people from
various communities in San Diego, Fresno, Sacramento and Ureka
to discuss the implications of the federal bill and to discuss some
of the more immediate concerns about the state bill which is
being presented by Assemblyman Bates in California.

Briefly, I

would like to give you a little bit of the history on why there
is a lot of concern about the applicability of the federal bill
in terms of some of the Indians

California.

First of all,

reviewing the federal bill, it was discovered that the primary
provision for reassumption and jurisdiction is made for those
Indian people who have tribal affiliations.

In addition, we

reviewed the federal register which was published and find that,
in

regulations, it provides a method whereby tribes mainly

assume j
I

sdiction and it

d not make provisions for those

an groups that were not tribly -- for those Indian people

that were not tribly affiliated.

Is there need for clarification

as to what is tribal affiliation and what is trust status?

~,

I

L •

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

What I'd like to find out is how many

people are we talking about?
MS. REITMAN:

Okay.

In review of that, we looked at

what the situation is in California in terms of some of us, in
being California Indians, how we were going to be affected by that
In the State of California, there was a public law passed which
had effect in the early 1960's, is Public Law 85-671 and 88-419,
that was brought into effect and it was called termination.
Under termination, there were 37 rancherias that were terminated
from tribal recognition.

These included 37 up and down the

State of California, including people from Chuckchansie tribal
organizations, Porno, Little Lake Porno, some Maidu, some Miwoks,
and there are included in there some other Indians who are
descendants of tribal groups but are not on tribal rolls,

Because

of the various criteria, some of the tribes maintain for membership on the rolls.

At the time of termination, the population

base for the rancherias varied from the maximum of 500 which is
basically the estimated population at the Big Valley Rancheria in
Clear Lake, California, or Lake County, California, to the smaller
rancherias, which were terminated at that time.

The smaller ones

would be like Mark West, Mission Creek, Moore Town, Puskenta,
Carter Valley.

Those are the smaller ones with population of

approximately 35 to 40.

So, in all total, we had anticipated

that there were approximately 4,000 or 5,000 that were terminated at that time.

We have no way to account for those

Indians that are individually recognized as Indians but are not
members of tribal rolls.

At this time, the resource that would
72.

provide us with that information would be the California land
claims, which was initiated in the 1930's and was completed in
the mid-1960's, at which time, various descendants of tribal
groups were able to receive compensation for lands that the
California Indians -- how would you say -- gave up for the
land claim settlement.

So, that is the other alternative roll.

We do not have access to that roll.

Although I understand that

it is maintained at the Bureau of Indian Affairs here in
Sacramento.
I wanted to briefly respond to some comments that you
asked about population in terms of those children being dealt
with under adoption and foster care.

According to a report by

the Association on American Indian Affairs, a survey was conducted in 1975, using '70 census, and it was the U.S. Bureau of
the Census, since it is a population of 1970.

It states that,

in the State of California, according to the California Department
of Health, there were 93 Indian children placed for adoption by
public agencies in 1975.

Then again, it says, according to

statistics from the State of California Department of Health,
there were 319 Indian children in foster family homes in 1974.
So, there were, in the overall, what I would say the summation
of the

gures of the survey they took and the

gures they

estimated, they came out with a statement that Indian children
are placed for adoption an average of three years.

There are

1,507 Indian children under 21 years old in adoption at any one
time in the State of California.

And, they took a survey over a

period of three years, prorated that, and came out with 1,500
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children under 21 years being placed for adoption at any one time
for that year of 1975.

So that represents one in every 26.3

Indian child under the age of 21 in the State.
CHAifu~N

ALATORRE:

How many of those are placed in a

family with either the same Indian tribe or Native-American?
MS. REITMAN:

According to the information we have at

this time, we cannot show any records of Indian foster homes
being available for the purpose of placement.

Therefore, that

would indicate that there were very few, if any at all, that
were placed in foster care.

We cannot find any records indicating

Indian foster home placements.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Excuse me.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE.

Ms. Moore.

There are no Indian foster homes

available?
MS. REITMAN:

We did a recent survey of various

individuals working in foster care, and we find that there are -and it's a question

they think there are three to four foster

homes available that are under Indian influence.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE.

What about institutions or

group home types of settings?
MS. REITMAN:

Institutions, as mentioned by DSS,

there is one and it's called Quechan, which is in the Phoenix
area jurisdiction, and that's the only one group home.
I would like to later address some of the things we
learned about why there is not some of those homes.
To finish some statistical information that you were
asking for in terms of foster care, we find that, according to
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statistics from the State of California, Department of Health,
there were 319 Indian children in foster family homes in 1974.
This represents one out of every 124 Indian children in the State.
By comparison, there were 20,590 non-Indian children in foster
homes in 1974, representing one out of every 336.6 non-Indian
children in the State.

And so, where, in Indian placements we

see one out of every 124, we see only one out of 336 that are
being placed in terms of non-Indians.
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES.

Can I ask a question?

How do you

account for those figures with the foster and also the adoptions?
That seems both could be, compared to the other population, to be
way out of line.

How do you account for that?

MS. REITMAN:

Well, there is so much that we have

learned about that result in the lack of placement of an Indian
child into an Indian foster home.

A lot of that has to do with

the lack of a family being able to qualify for foster licensing
or, in some instances, being able to adopt a child.
I'd just like to make a comment for the record that
there are, therefore, by proportion 2.7 times as many Indian
children as non-Indian children in foster family homes in
California.

I would like to also submit a breakdown, by county,

an analysis of California foster care statistics as it applies
to Indians in California, and I will submit that for the record.
We found in reviewing these individual county by county breakdowns that the population or the estimate of the population
per county is low, and that in counties where our volunteers have
extensive experience, per se myself, they estimate in Clear Lake
75.

that there were 145 Indian children and 145 Indian children
represents one of the seven rancherias that is in the County of
Lake alone.

So, I would say that the population has doubled

since that, in terms of the number of children that are in that
area.

In Clear Lake alone, we have seven rancherias, three of

which have been terminated, and there are five altogether which
lost their lands in the California Land Claim Settlement.

So

five groups, which originally started in our history for that
county either lost their land base or terminated.

That's just

an example of one county in which we did a much more in depth
study of population and found that the population, according to
this report, are only half of the population that we can indicate
just on one group in that community.

I will submit these for the

record.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Let me just ask you a question.

Just by the statistics that you cite there obviously has not been
an effort to try and secure foster parents that happen to be of
Indian extraction or Native-American, and that is one of the
problems.

How would this bill overcome that?

That's a different

problem.
MS. REITMAN:

Right.

I believe, Mr. Alatorre, that

one of the proposed changes to AB 1041 is the provision for
Indian child welfare officers.

I

believe~that,

in the passage of

this legislation providing for the child welfare officers, these
officers could provide the liaison for the State to the Indian
people that are in the State of California.
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In providing that

liaison or part of it, I would see is that that officer would do
some of the things that we're talking about, address some of the
concerns.

One is to identify, on an ongoing basis, and develop

and establish foster and adoption homes for Native-American
children.

I believe that the Indian Child Welfare Officer might

also be able to assist Indians who have not been able to establish
their trust status or identify as an Indian, i.e., someone who is
not on the California Land Claims but is a descendant from someone
on the land claims who can provide confirmation to the courts
that this person is,

indeed, an Indian and should

have the

provisions and protections and the same benefits as provided by
the federal bill.

The Indian child welfare officer might also

provide recommendation on terms of placements and also assist in
the processing of foster and adoption activities for the Indian
child.

I also feel that the Indian Child Welfare Officer should

be located in various areas throughout the State of California,
based upon the distribution of the Indian population, and that
the Indian Child Welfare Officer be given the flexibility to also
provide the licensing mechanism for Indian foster homes and
adoption activities.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
ASSEMBLYWOMfu~

Let me just stop you right there.

MOORE.

Were you here for the testimony

given by the State Department of Public Social Services, the
adoption ••• ?
MS. REITMAN:

DSS, yes.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE.

Did you know they had established

the outreach program that they have?
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MS.

REITMfu~:

Oh yes, we're very supportive of the

activities of that unit, and I think their activity has resulted
us feeling that there is a need for continuing that kind of
activity in DSS.

They have proven to provide good information

to Indian people who have not been aware of foster care or
adoption processes and have definitely provided a hand or an
inlet for a lot of our folks in the community.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:
0

Do you see the Child Welfare

cer as being separate and apart or different from that group

of outreach workers?
MS. REITMAN:

The understanding that I have from the

development of their program is that it is a one year program
and is scheduled to terminate.

There is no provision, at this

time, as I understand it, for continued funding.

Therefore, I

would see under the provisions of the recommendations being made
for 1041 or a like bill that there be a provision for those
officers so they can continue that kind of activity.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

So you would have no problem

with it being housed as it is currently if the program was
guaranteed survival?
MS.

REITMfu~:

I think the concern that many of the

Indian people expressed was that there be some involvement of the
Indian people in the processing of foster and adoption home proceedings.

That that officer not only be able to identify foster

and adoption homes, but also be able to assist an Indian family
or an Indian child in making sure that that child gets to a
foster home that is approved by the Indian community.
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In terms

of the program continuing to do solely foster care and adoption
home identification, I think that there needs to be a mechanism
to be sure that those children can get to those homes once they
are identified, so that there is some continuity.
ASSEMBLYWO~~

MOORE.

So you would see this bill ex-

panding the services of an existing function and guaranteeing
funding for continued basis?
MS. REITMAN:

Yes, for that kind of an activity.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

One other question, in your

testimony you indicated that many of the Indian families did not
qualify for foster homes, and I tend to believe this is probably
happening more times than not in terms of the statistics you
quoted, in terms of the number or the lack of Indian foster homes.
Are you familiar with the licensing requirements of this State?
MS. REITMAN:

Not other than what I've heard in

testimony by other individuals.

Not testimony, but comments

in the workshops that we conducted.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

On that question, when you say

that the Indian Child Welfare Officer would have some responsibility as far as licensing and placement, what kinds of things
are you talking about just in terms of licensing, that you feel
has to change so that you encourage more Indian families becoming
foster care parents or being adoptive parents?
ASSEMBLYWOMAN MOORE:

Mr. Chairman, you took the words

right out of my mouth.
MS. REITMAN:

Okay, one of the things we have seen in

some of the workshops, or heard in some of the workshops, is that
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some of the families tend to have a history of criminal records
within their family unit, and so that tends to create a little
negative feeling by that family in applying for any kind of
licensing per se.

It's my understanding, in licensing for foster

care, that there are requirements that the child be put in an
environment or atmosphere that's positive rather than negative,
and a criminal element or a relationship to criminal activities
is definitely negative.

But, in terms of the Indian families,

the extended Indian family in which there are grandmother, grandparents involved, mothers and fathers, aunts and uncles, and the
child that we might be concerned with, there might be an excessive
amount of criminal involvement by any one of those members, and
it would tend to lessen the chance for a family to be licensed.
Another thing is that there is a high rate of alcoholism in some
of the communities that we must acknowledge and those tend to
provide negative reasons for families applying for foster care,
adoption licensing.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

What kind of exceptions would you

make dealing, as an example, say either on the alcoholism side
or on the criminal background side?

I mean what kinds of exceptions

are you talking about that should be taken into consideration and
just stick with alcoholism.

Say that you have a husband and wife,

and say one of them has had a history of alcoholism.

I guess,

under current law, that person, maybe because of that, would not
qualify for a foster parent situation.
MS. REITMAN:

I think probably what we had looked at

in a couple of cases that we dealt with out of Oroville where, in
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one instance, the grandfather was particularly having a lot of
problems with alcoholism, but the grandmother tended to be a very
strong, influencial person for her family, her extended family.
The concern that the social worker had there was that the grandfather would be abusive in the care of that child, if the child
were placed there.

But, it is our feeling that where the grand-

mother, in the balance of the family, provided a good, positive -in other words, the grandmother was providing the leadership for
her family that that child could have been placed there within the
family unit, rather than placed out of the family unit.

So, I

think it is in terms of what we see in traditional terms, nonIndian terms, most people would feel that the grandfather should
have the control, so to speak, or perform the head-of-household
task, and, therefore, would base it upon his ability to maintain
that head-of-household role.

Whereas, in the Indian community,

we could recognize that grandmother as being the very key to the
continuation and the support of that family mentally and oftentimes, physically.

I think in terms of non-Indian values, I

think that is one example that we see, not necessarily that the
male has to play the leadership role and oftentimes the grandmother or the mother will play the leadership role for a family.
And so, those are the kinds of exceptions we would look at and
tend to give consideration to.
The other thing that we were concerned about is
poverty.

There is a lot of low income in the Native-American

community, and that, because a family does not earn a certain
amount of income that they be disqualified for that purpose alone,
81.

and oftentimes it might just be because of that.

At least it

appears to us that most families, the comments we have received
at the workshop was that a lot of our folks don't apply because
they don't have enough money to maintain, let alone try and
provide assistance to someone else, even if it is within their
own family.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MS. REITMAN:

Well, how do you overcome that?

I don't think we can overcome the

existence of poverty, or low income, or alcoholism, or any of the
other issues that enter into determining eligibility.

I think,

basically, we had hoped that the Indian Child Welfare Officers
could do is to provide a resource for those people to be able to
tie into.

In other words, if those Child Welfare Officers can

work with the family, know what their problems are, can tie them
into resources which they might not be using, then they can deal
with those issues.

In the meantime, those other resources can

deal with those issues in terms of alcoholism, if say the grandfather has drinking problems.

The Indian Child Welfare Officer,

in the meantime, can continue to work with the family or that
child so that that tie can stay there, and I think, basically,
that's a long-term goal, the long-term interests, is that tie with
the Indian child can stay with that Indian family, and, if not,
if it does have to be removed to a nonmember of the family, then
that it be an Indian.

If not that, then to one that is acceptable

by the Indian community, a family that is acceptable by the
Indian community.
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CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

What happens if you don't have

an acceptable family?
MS. REITMAN:

I think that in some of the final

recommendations for changes, the alternative was a non-Indian
family which was acceptable.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
talking about?

Over what length of time are we

In other words, say that we explore, as an

example the aunt and uncle, then that doesn't work out, a cousin,
or a grandmother, grandfather.

I mean, how long of a time are

we talking about?
MS. REITMAN:

I think what we had hoped, with the

provision of the officers and their being able to develop some
resources, being able to compile information into what other
programs that are available, that I don't think we're asking for
that officer to have any more time than the person that
recommends placement has.

I think it is a matter that will take

time to develop the resources and what is available to that
officer.

But once that's accomplished, I feel it should follow

the normal time period.

We are as concerned about the welfare

of the child as anyone else is.

Unfortunately, a lot of legal

and technical things get caught up in it, and I think the reality
of it is, is that once those resources are available, minimum or
maximum time can be used that is ongoing as it is.

But, I think

one of the basic things is to build that foundation or build that
resource, and then those officers will have that as a recourse
which does not exist now.
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CHAI~~

ALATORRE:

One question I would throw out and

ask you to comment on is do we have to go to government?
that government gives, government can take away.

Because

I guess that's

one of the problems in any program that we're talking about,
whether we are talking about a program for Native-Americans or any
other group of people.

You know, once that we have government set

in motion -- are you saying that that's the only way that it can
be done or could it be done outside of government?

In other

words, the problem seems to me the lack of foster parents, as if
we would leave it with the foster care in this particular bill -the lack of Native-American foster parents or the lack of an outreach to try and secure the foster parents in different communities,
whether it is in an urban area or in a rancheria or whatever it
might be.

Now, could it not be done without having to,

~s

an

example, set up the welfare workers that is called for under this
bill, or could it be done, say, under private auspices, under
the various Native-American organizations that have been set up,
say, over a period of years, that work with the respected tribes
or they've worked in social services programs?

But does it

require that we set up and put in motion the establishment of the
community worker, the establishment of, let's say, other
procedures and the like, so that we are able to get foster
parents involved and get people interested that happens to be
Native-Americans interested in becoming foster parents?

To me,

there are a lot of ways you could go, and one way we are talking
about under this bill is not only the Indian, the Native-American
worker, we're talking about a commission.
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To me, it just seems

that those aren't the only avenues that we could pursue to
accomplish the end.

And the end that you really are talking

about is how can we get more Native-American kids put into
families of similar backgrounds, culturally and the like?

I

mean does it require us to enact legislation to do that?

And

if it does, let us just talk about the most minimal that is
needed to be able to accomplish some of those objectives, because
I'll be very honest with you, I don't see the Governor setting
up another commission.

I don't know if we have the economic

resources to form or put together 10, 15, S, or whatever it
might be, as far as workers are concerned, that would specifically deal with the problems of adoptions, the problems of fosterparenting and the like, to deal with some of these issues.

I

don't know if we're going to be able to do that.
You see, I want to do something, and from the
testimony that we've received, I don't know what that is, short
of doing and coming together with the recommendations that most
of the organizations have, at least agreed upon as being the
minimum.

Say, we don't get that.

What can we do, so that we

can, in fact, get more Native-Americans involved in the foster
parent program, so that we can, in fact, get more NativeAmericans involved in the foster parent program, so that we could
ze some of the requirements

at are not necessarily very

realistic and do not take into consideration just the cultural
backgrounds and setting, flat out, that if there's a criminal
behavior, you don't qualify.
qualify.

If there is alcoholism, you do not

What are the minimum things
8 s.

at we could do to try and

push the bureaucracy so that they aren't just automatically disqualified from being foster parents?
MS. REITMAN:

I really cannot answer that.

is a big load to lay on me, but you know what?

I think that

I appreciate what

you're saying because there are a lot of Indian people involved
in various organizations that receive limited kinds of funding,
and are yet day to day confronted with some of the problems that
I'm bringing here to you today, and they cannot answer them
because of their limited kinds of funding because even if there
exist laws which make provisions, i.e. the federal Indian Child
Welfare bill makes a provision for family and child care services,
but where are the monies to do it?

I think while you mentioned

that there are a lot of Indian organizations, why can't they
deal with this?

They don't have the resources.

We talk about

encouraging Indian families and people who are involved in Indian
community activities to apply for these kinds of licensing,
foster, adoption, temporary placement.

To be quite honest with

you, they don't know about it and they don't know about it because
the State of California, as the programming now exists, does not
reach out to those that are not part of its regular scheme, and
that means Native-Americans.

In addition to that, we have

Native-American people who wish to retain something that is very
dear to them and that means local control and local government,
tribal control.

So, it is not our wish either to involve another

layer of bureaucracy, another layer of laws so that we can have
something to say about our kids.

As it stands now, there is no

one that can represent the Indian parent who wishes to have their
86.

child, if necessary, be put into a foster/adoption situation.
They don't have anyone to intervene or any resources, as it exists.
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

Richard on that point, when we

started out with the bill, we tried to figure out how we can
handle the jurisdictional questions.

And Connie, among other

people, were involved in a series of workshops, and out of those
workshops actually came the suggestion of setting up the Indian
Welfare Officer as being a means for outreach, a means for
Indians to control and protect their own people.

I would argue

that currently in government we are spending money for foster
care, we're spending money for adoption workers, and that's
government money.

I would add that we need to focus on this

sub-group, which has really been abused over the years.

I

recognize what you're saying, and I know Bill sitting here too
knows its realities, trying to get a bill through in a year in
which people are going the other way against certain probing
irons against services, but I would argue that we could certainly improve this.

But, if we can establish those workers and

we can get them out there and educate the Indian people and work
with Indians and Indians being the workers themselves, and being
directed by a commission, I think that that would do more towards
listening to morale, towards pointing out the fact that Indians
't have to be passive.

They,

fact, can get actively

involved in the political process and could see some rewards by
doing that.
CHAifu~N

ALATORRE:

I think we have to come to grips with

this and coming to grips with this is number one--I might be wrong.
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I don't see the Governor setting up a commission,
one.

at's number

Number two, with the limitation of resources and, if any-

thing, what we are talking about is programs not being increased,
but programs being decreased.
two years of doing nothing.

Now, I would not like to go another
Okay, that is my point and how, if

they say, that we ran full board with the workers and the like
and that didn't come to pass.

Now, the problem is still there.

What my interest is is how can we deal with the problem if those
resources, if we cannot set that up, what other mechanism or
what other ideas could we explore as part of this bill to
encourage the development of more foster parents, the development
of more resources so that you do not have kids being put into a
household -- as loving as it might be, without having at least
the understanding of the kids that they are bringing into their
household?
MS. REITMAN:

I think that maybe we could say the

Department of Social Services or any department who is willing
to sponsor that might be able to develop a program as part of the
special effort.

But, again, that's putting a strain on already

tight budgets.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MS. REITMAN:
ments.

Exactly correct.

And so the answer isn't going to the depart-

That is the frustration that we're confronted with is

that we need to get a particular job done and where do you start?
There is a special program.

I understand that it is an 18 month

program which Gwen Moore asked about and that is it.
about the line of commitment there.
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That is

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

But that's out of the state.

It is

in Phoenix.
MS. REITMAN:

Yes.

I think that in terms of addressing

the particular issue of foster and adoption homes, I do see that,
through the provisions of the federal law which allows for state
and tribal agreements, eventually the tribes would be able to
provide, through federal funds, family and child care services.
And, I would see it to the benefit of the State to at least take
interim measures, through legislation, to make sure that that
mechanism gets started in California which is what I see this bill
doing, and that eventually the responsibility be put where it
belongs, which is with the federal government at this time.
Unfortunately, California is a 280 state and does have the
responsibility.

But at this point, it seems to me that it would

be a very good point to develop what eventually would become
state tribal agreements for the federal government and the tribes
to reassume the provisions of the family in child care programs.
Now, under the federal law, there are provisions for funds that can
provide for family and child care services.
as I understand Chuck saying

However, those funds,

-- I don't know if Chuck is here

that the provisions for that would be coming some time in 1981
and, under those provisions of the federal bill, we will be able
to receive family and child care services.

That as I understand,

can be provided through any Indian organization, so that
California Indians can too partake of that.

However, they cannot

partake of the tribal innerventions section, and that's primarily
where the Child Welfare Officers would come in as to make
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recommendations and to do the subsequent followup.

And, I see

as a key point.
In terms of the commission, it was recommended that the
commission provide the monitoring of child welfare matters as it
relates to Indian child foster and adoption activities, function
as a catalyst for provision and delivery
services to Indian communities.

family and child care

And, I would see that as

utilizing some of the existing services out of DSS and the health
agency and education programs.

I think OCD has some really

beautiful child care programs that come out of there.
But three to develop and establish policies and guidelines that
shall be used in carrying out the intent of the federal Indian
Child Welfare Act of 1978.

At this point, the comments were

basically directed at the section mentioned by Ms. Nabahe.
Section 109, where it provides for state tribal agreements, that
the commission advocate the State to play an advocacy role for
the State to conduct those state tribal agreements and provide
the mechanism for non-tribal California Indians to secure like
benefits and protections of the provisions of the Federal Indian
Child Welfare Act of 1978.

And five, those reports be prepared

by the Commission on the Status of Indian Child Welfare Matters
in the State of California.

It is recommended that the commission

be comprised of Indian people who are nominated by Indian
communities to the office of the Governor.

In addition, it is

recognized that these commissioners must have definite background
in child welfare matters which might include, but not be limited
to, experience in foster care, adoption care, community child
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welfare advocacy, family or child welfare programming by court
proceedin:gs involving foster/adoption placements.

And those: are

the recommended backgrounds of the people who would be on
commission that they would have.

th~

It has been further recommended

that the commission be a paid body responsible for the above
activities.

And, I have shared with you the comments about what

the child welfare officers would do.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Is there anything else?

ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

May I ask a question?

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Sure you could.

ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

We really keep going around about

the number of Indians who belong to tribes that are federally
recognized.

Do you have any idea, in California, what percentage

that might be, and how many people would be covered really by the
federal law?
MS. REITMAN:

By the federal law?

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

I think somebody mentioned -- I

don't know if they said 50 percent.
MS. DOLAN:
AUDIENCE:

Someone said that.
I know there is about 50 percent.

However,

there are some that were terminated some time back.
CHAI~~

ALATORRE:

AUDIENCE:

So it could be lower.

Termination at this point, for your

information, were five back in August that were reinstated.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
be in the ballpark?

Would say that 50 percent might

Fine.
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MS.

I'd like to thank you for the time and

ITM~~:

the opportunity to share this information with you.
any more speci

If you need

c information regarding the research on Indian

child welfare issue in California, that information can be forwarded to the Assemb
here in Sacramento.

of California Indian Women, P. 0. Box 60188
Thank you very much.

ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:

Mr. Chairman.

I'd like to ask one

question.
CHAIRMfu~

ALATORRE:

ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:

Sure.
Because Tom and I talked a little

bit about getting again back to this process of recognition by
the Bureau of Indian Affairs.

There was some indication in this

legislation that it might make it easier for some of those tribes
or groups that weren't recognized by the Bureau, if this legislation was implemented, for them to later on become recognized.
I'd like to know what is the procedure that the BIA follows for
recognizing certain groups?

I mean, if the State recognizes a

particular group that, in the past, has not been identified as
such, does that mean then that the federal government will
automatically recognize it, or does that enhance the situation?
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
the person from

0

It's my understanding, and I think

ce of Planning and Research could

probably correct me if I'm wrong, it doesn't matter what we do.
It only matters what the Secretary of the Interior does.

I think

that the Secretary of the Interior has to recognize the groups,
not the State recognizing them, then automatically the federal
government recognizes them, but the Secretary of Interior, in the
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final analysis, is the person that would recognize those that
not been recognized up to this time.

ha~e

But I guess the question,

at least I don't know what is the process to obtain recognition •••
MS. REITMAN:

There is a process that the Bureau of

Indian Affairs uses and I am not familiar with that.

Our band

has been asked to -- I belong with the Porno Band of Indians, and
we encompass approximately three counties--Lake, Mendocino, and
Sonoma.

As a tribe, we have never been federally recognized.

However, there are bands that are land based and do have trust
recognition.
ASSEMBLYMAN COSTA:
MS. REITMAN:

What's a band?

A band is a group of Indians of a tribe,

at this point, that have broken up.

We have traditionally a Porno

Band of Indians, which are Porno tribe, but in terms of the litigation and the things that have in a sense been broken into
different areas.

I want to make one last comment for the record

and ask that some consideration be given to the provision in the
federal register of the federal requirements on the federal bill,
under definition (d), Indian means.

There is a statement in

there and it says, including those tribes, bands, or groups
terminated since 1940 and those recognized now, or in the
future, to determine Indian, and that's a question

but that is

a concern, I think, that probably will be brought up again in the
future if we continue to use this piece of legislation on the
federal level.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Thank you very much.

Louise Fleenor.
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All right,

Actual
pe

le on

, we're the last three

we prepared our testimony together

because we

lt it

d g

you a more comprehensive view of

at child placement in California is to the Indian child.
If you could give us your name for
the record.
MS.

EENOR:

the California

I'm Louise Fleenor, and I'm representing

sociation of Adoption Agencies which is com-

prised of p

e

public agencies throughout the State.

Arlene Gilbert, at my le

, is representing Los Angeles County

artment of Public Social Service, and Carol Minard is
representing the California Welfare
Among the

e of us, we actually are representing the agencies

at do
chi d

rectors Association.

placement of Indian children in California of any
wi

exception of the State Department, I don't

ink there are

r groups that are not represented by one of

us.
we would break our testimony into essentially
e parts.
removal of a
And
be

rst part, Arlene is going to talk about the
ild from

Carol is
t

out

are written materi

s home and into the foster care cycle.

ing to be talking about dependency and I will
tion and what that means for the child.
s available for you to look at.

talking from some of the
as from the written mate

There

We will be

ings we've heard this morning as well
al.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Very good.
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MS. ARLENE GILBERT:

On behalf of Los Angeles County

Department of Public Social SerYices, I want to express my
appreciation of having the opportunity to testify today.

As the

most populus county in the State, containing the largest urban
Indian population in the country, our department would be significantly affected by AB 1041 in its delivery of services to
Indian children.

We administer

the Children Program.

the Out-of-Home Care Services to

The decision to place a child is made only

after all other alternatives, and agency and community resources
have been explored.

Our department has long recognized the

importance of ethnic and cultural variables in case planning.
At the outset, I emphasize that our department believes
the overall intent of AB 1041 is laudable.

Certainly, Indian

families and the unique values of the Indian culture should be
preserved.

We wholeheartedly support the purposes of AB 1041.

It's from this perspective that we address the issues raised by
AB 1041.

We concur with the ends to be achieved; but we do have

some concerns about some of the proposed meanings.
Los Angeles County today has the largest urban Indian
population in the country.

Roughly, somewhere between 45 and SO

percent of all the Indians in the country live in urban areas.
According to estimates from the Indian community, there are anywhere from 75,000 to 100,000 Indians in Los Angeles, depending
upon who is making the projections.
The most recent statistics we have about the numbers of
Indian children in foster care come from a report dated
December 31, 1977.

At that time, there were 21,520 children
95.

placed in foster care throughout the State.

Now, these are

youngsters supervised by welfare departments only, not those
supervised by p

ation or regional centers or adoptions.

that time, there were 370 Indian children identified.
County had 69 of those 370.

At

Los Angeles

These kids represent about eight-

tenths of one percent of the total placements in Los Angeles
County and about 18 percent of the total Indian children in
placement throughout the State.
number of

i

Your committee asked for the

actually affected by the federal Indian Child

Welfare Act of 1978.

The federal law applies only to Indian

children who are either enrolled in, or eligible for enrollment in,
federally-recognized tribes, and they must be the biological
children of members of such Indian tribes.

We have no way of

determining how many of the Indian children in foster care meet
the foregoing criteria.

It is our educated guess that the vast

majority of youngsters are either enrolled in, or are eligible
for enrollment in, federally-recognized tribes.
In

ans ei

federal

The balance of

r are affiliated with Indian tribes that are not

-recognized, or have no tribal affiliation.

According

to one study, Indians in the Los Angeles area in 1975, of the
Indian people surveyed, 80 percent came from federally-recognized
tribes, but I don't know of any other larger study.
This discussion about statistics raises the first issue.
It is not c

ar in AB 1041 who is actually affected by the

proposed legislation, and there are aL least two interpretations.
(1)

It could be intended to apply only to Indians who

belong to Indian tribes located within the State.
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If so, then

the question is raised as to whether or not any distinction is
intended between Indians who either are enrolled in federallyrecognized tribes, or to non-federally recognized tribes, or both.
(2)

It co

d be intended to apply to all Indians who

live in California, regardless of tribal affiliations and locations
of tribes.

If so, then numerous questions are raised about the

legality of California State setting up standards which differ
from the federal legislation on Indians who are affiliated from
tribes outside the State.

We are particularly sensitive to this

potential problem area because of our large urban Indian
population.
A second and major overriding issue from our department
arises from the differences between AB 1041 and the federal
Indian Child Welfare Act is already

Iadian Child Welfare Act.

law, and it seems it would take precedence over state legislation.
In my written testimony I've given several examples.

I think I'll

just, for brevity's sake, pull out a couple here.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Why don't we just stipulate that we

understand that there are some conflicts.

I'll be very honest,

being that you are

erested in finding out

business, I'm

what, as an example being the County of Los Angeles and having the
tremendous populat
ng out

of Nat

-Americans, I'll be interested in

many Nat

ican

Native-Americans or foster
homes.

How many of

ds are being adopted by

that are

ern are put into

homes?
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g

Na~ive-Arnerican

to foster
foster

MS. GILBERT:

Okay.

At the present we have about,

somewhere around, 67 to 70 Indian children in foster care.

We

have, varies from month to month, anywhere from four to six
Indian foster homes in the entire county of Los Angeles.

So,

that means a lot of these Indian youngsters who go into foster
care have to go into non-Indian foster homes.

They simply don't

have the resources.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
area.

All right.

You are working in this

Now, what steps are you taking as the County of Los

Angeles to encourage, to recruit, or to whatever else you have
to do to try and get more kids, more families that come from a
Native-American background to become foster parents, and what
are some of the problems that you have had if you have made
that outreach?
MS. GILBERT:

Okay.

About three years ago, possibly

four, our department made a concerted effort to outreach to the
Indian community -- contacted Indian leaders, contacted some of
the key people that they knew were interested in increasing the
numbers of foster homes, Indian foster homes, for Indian
children.

That particular effort got us nowhere.

At first,

the Indian community seemed to be really interested and then
lost interest, but I do know the department has made the effort
then.

And then more recently, they're beginning another drive

to recruit foster homes in general, because there's a shortage
for all ethnic groups and with concentration on ethnic minorities,
not just Indians, but the Chicano and the Black.
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CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
your experiences?
you got there.

All right.

What has been some of

And I'm not interested in what happened before

What have been some of your experiences and the

difficulty of the recruitment of foster parents, primarily
Native-American foster parents?

What do you see in this legis-

lation outside some of the examples?

Could you see what conflict

in trying to obtain, I guess, the objectives that you're trying
to reach with the objectives that Mr. Bates is attempting to
reach?

MS. GILBERT:

I think the biggest problem was the in-

ability of the Indian families who were interested to meet the
licensing standards.

That seems to be the major problem.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

What is that problem?

Tell me about

the licensure and what the problem is in meeting it.

MS. GILBERT:
CHAIRMA~

Well, I can give you a couple of examples.

ALATORRE:

MS. GILBERT:

Okay.

For example, the poverty, I believe

Connie Reitman mentioned that earlier, there is a major problem.
And also situations, families, where a lot of Indian people are
used to living in, I'll say, crowded housing for lack of a better
word.

The homes are good, but they don't meet the licensing

standards that require a bedroom for every child, or -- I'm not
sure,

's just an example.

But they can't meet the fine

points, and then again, for some Indian people having the arrest
records, because potential foster parents do have to go through
the criminal check, and I think that turns a lot of people off
right in the beginning.

You know, they hear that they are going

to have to

don t want to do it.

at,
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CHAI~~AN

ALATORRE:

Okay.

Now just in terms of how

realistic some of these requirements are, and let's look at the
one bed for every child or one bedroom for every child.

Taking

into consideration the lack of Native-Americans or Indian foster
parents, if we are attempting to encourage more Indian in
becoming foster parents, how realistic is that requirement given
the scarcity of the foster parents that happen to be of Indian
ancestry?

I mean do you really need it?

Is that really that

much of a • • .
MS. GILBERT:

It's a state licensing requirement.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

That's what I want to talk about.

We recognize there is a scarcity, and I'm interested in dealing
with that as an issue.
a foster parent.

Now it's a state requirement to become

Being that we're talking about a scarcity and

a vacuum that we have in our State today of foster parents who
have an Indian background.

Is that realistic?

I mean could we

do something in that area?

What other things could be done to

encourage outside of whatever recruitment that you have,
recognizing that there are certain things under current law?
Now could some of them be relaxed for the purposes of trying to
get more Native-American foster parents as an example?
MS. GILBERT:

My own personal feeling is yes, they

could be, but then I'm just wondering about the precedent that it
would set for other groups and somehow I anticipate there would
be a lot of resistance from those people in the position to say
yes or no.
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CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

All right.

So one of the problems

you have had (aside from the arrest record, the poverty, and
certain requirements) is trying to recruit more foster parents.
What other things?

What other barriers are there?

MS. GILBERT:

I think another one would have to do with

finding the Indian people and persuading them or perhaps
educating them to the need.

Because I have, from time to time,

met Indian families that had never even thought about becoming
foster parents.

And, I think if there was an outreach made to

reach more Indian families and to encourage them, the ones that
have the interests to help them through the process to make it
as easy as possible, all foster parents have to go through a
certain process to become foster parents.

But I think the

personalized help might make the whole process a lot less
intimidating for perspective foster parents.
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

I

thought you tried that a few

years ago and it was unsuccessful.
CHAIRV~N

ALATORRE:

In other words, the department

tried that.
MS. GILBERT:
We tried, yes.

Oh, you're referring to my comments before?

We'll try again.

ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

Would Indian workers -- would

actually Indians going out working with Indians in trying to ... ?
~1S.

remember.

GILBERT:

No •.. no.

At that time, I'm trying to

It seems to me there were about two or three Indian

children services workers in the whole agency.
many.
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There aren't very

We haven't done much hiring in about 10 years.

So, there just

wouldn't have been the staff available to try that approach.
ASSEMBLYMfu~

BATES:

The thrust of the bill now is to

get these child welfare workers -- if we just mandated that you
do that as a county, or require that you do that, would you have
the staff to carry on the functions that we're talking about or
would you, in fact, have to go out and hire the same people that
we're suggesting in the bill?
MS. GILBERT:

I think we'd probably have to go out and

hire.
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

You couldn't do it with the existing

staff at this point?
MS. GILBERT:
CHAIRM~~

No •.• no.

ALATORRE:

MS. GILBERT:

Okay, continue.

I'd like to move on to another issue area

that is a particular concern to me in that AB 1041 does not
distinguish between the urban and reservation and rural Indians.
Conditions are different for urban Indians than for reservation
Indians.

Some urban Indians are geographically remote from their

tribes and some have no tribal affiliation.

And, in this

connection, AB 1041 states that the standard to be applied for
determining whether the child can remain with his or her parents
shall be the prevailing social and cultural mores of the community
in which the parents live or with which they maintain contact.
Our department cannot apply the standard to Indians in Los
Angeles County because there is no Indian community.
no counterpart to the barrio or to the ghetto.
102.

They have

They are, in fact,

scattered throughout the County.

And, many urban Indians main-

tain social and cultural relations with their tribes, which may
be in another part of the State, or in another state.

It would

be difficult for our department to determine the prevailing mores
of a remote Indian community.
One other issue I want to bring up has to do with the
Indian Child Welfare Officer.

I heard one of the other speakers

comment that we all have the Indian child's interest at heart, and
our concern about the AB 1041, the way it is presently written, is
that placement of an Indian child would have to go through the
Indian Child Welfare Officer.
of the child.

That could work to the detriment

Replacement may be a traumatic experience for the

kid, who probably already is experiencing considerable stress,
and I think this requirement would place an unnecessary burden.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

How so?

MS. GILBERT:

It would place an unnecessary burden

How?

in that the youngster, the Indian child, may need placement now.
We can't put the youngster into placement until we go to the
Indian Child Welfare Officer.

You know, if it is a Friday night,

we're going to have to wait until Monday, unless there is some
24 hour .•.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

But there are protective services,

I think, that are not covered under this bill.

I think that in

an emergency, you know, if you're talking about the health and
welfare of a child on a Friday night, I think that you can
correct me if I'm wrong, one of you, it's in the bill, I think
that would be covered.

In other words, in an emergency situation,
103.

you could, in fact, as a department, under the Protective
Services Act, could remove the child from a home and place him
into a -- but I think the issue that you're probably dealing with
is the differences in ••. say you work for the county and this
particular person would work for, say the State, and maybe
differences in standards that you use, say in Los Angeles, might
be different.

As far as the criteria and the like, then say,

maybe the Indian Child Welfare Officer might use as far as
standards in the placement of that child.
MS. GILBERT:
of the youngster.

Does that make sense?

Well, my concern was with the replacement

Once we get a youngster into foster placement,

our staff tries to place them into a home where the youngster
can stay until the need is over, and I was thinking of situations
that conceivably could arise where the youngster is in a placement that the Indian Child Welfare Officer disagrees with, then
we have to move the child again.

I think that would work a

hardship on a kid.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MS. GILBERT:

Okay, what else?

I'd like to make a few recommendations.

First, we recommend that the target population of AB 1041 be
clearly delineated.

Secondly, if AB 1041 is intended as

enabling state legislation for the federal Indian Child Welfare
Act, then we strongly recommend that AB 1041 be brought into
conformity with the federal legislation.

If AB 1041 is intended

to include Indians not covered by the Indian Child Welfare Act,
then we suggest AB 1041 be clarified in that regard, and perhaps
even separate legislation may be necessary.
104.

Third, we recommend

that flexibility be incorporated into the provisions of AB 1041
to take into consideration the unique needs and problems of urban
Indians.

Fourth, we recommend that tribes be allowed to assume

jurisdiction over matters relating to the welfare of minor members
of such tribe in individual cases, only when the parents so desire.
We recommend that the provision be deleted from AB 1041 which
requires the Indian Child Welfare Officer to approve foster care
placements of Indian children.
I hope that the foregoing comments about our department's
concerns do not convey a negative attitude.

I raised the issues

and discuss them here in a spirit intended to help us all in finding accommodation that is mutually reasonable and acceptable to the
Indian people who would be affected by AB 1041, and to the public
and private agencies that serve them.

Our department wants to

contribute in whatever way it can to the preservation and
growth of Indian families and their children, and ultimately to the
Indian culture.

Thank you.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MS. CAROL MINARD:

Any questions?

Thank you.

Next.

Gentlemen, I want to address some

rather specific issues regarding ..•
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Could you give us your name just for

the record?
MS. MINARD:

Yes, Carol Minard from Shasta County, and

I'm representing the California Welfare Directors Association.
We chose to break down our presentations into three specific
areas, and since my own personal area of expertise is court
dependency and termination from parental custody and control,
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I'm going to speak to those issues.

They are, of course, a part

of the federal law and of AB 1041.
I have some grave concerns over the federal Act and also
over the pending California legislation; over the right of the
parent and the right of the child, as the laws are currently
spelled out.
1.

The federal law states that whenever a child is

taken from a parent and put into placement, the tribe must be
notified.
matter.

Now we're talking specifically in a court dependency
The parent is automatically notified.

is very explicit in this respect.

California law

I don't know how we can over-

come this dilemma that I'm presenting to you because it is in the
law.

But it seems to me like it's adding -- there's some phrase

and it escapes me at the moment, to say to this parent, look, you
idiot, you hve been abusing your kid and we're going to take
your child away from you and on top of that we're going to notify
your mother and father and your neighbors down the street.
I think that in the large tribes in the midwest where
everybody doesn't know everyone, this may not be a problem.
a county from which I come our tribes are very small.
does know everybody.

In

Everyone

To notify the tribe means that all of the

friends and all of the relatives have been informed that Mr.
and Mrs. so and so have been neglecting their child or abusing
their child.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

What's so different about that from

the regular families whose child has been taken away?

They live

in a neighborhood, and I mean if the kid is not around the
106.

neighbors are going to know that something is wrong.

I don't

see any difference between that and using the example about the
Indian child, and for that matter any other group.

I mean you

can use any group if you want to cite examples.
MS. MINARD:

I think it's relatively easy, particularly

for many of your so-called middleclass families to say, "Oh,
Johnny has gone to stay with his aunt and uncle for .•. "
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Well, usually -- what we're talking

about are not middleclass kids.
different kind of

I mean we're talking about a

child~

MS. MINARD:
matter of concern.

That may be.

I still think this is a

One which some way we need to consider.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Excuse me.

'W'hat I'm more concerned

with is not -- I can't resolve the problems of federal law.

You

have to take care of that -- deal with your Congressman about
that or your United States Senator.

I'm more concerned about the

problems that you have or the recommendations you have about
AB 1041 than I am about rehashing federal law that you might like
certain areas and you might not like certain areas.
anything about that.

We can't do

But let us try and concentrate our efforts

at this bill and what we can do here in the State.
MS. MINARD:
aga

Okay, let me go on to some other issues

and specifically court dependency actions, matters in which

child has been found to be abused or neglected and has had to be
removed from the custody control of the parent or guardian.

There

are instances in which this occurs when the social worker who is
aling with a family feels, hey, this parent is re
107.

ly not too

poorly put together.
a court action.

We can work with them.

Maybe we can avoid

Maybe we can let them voluntarily place their

child temporarily, for a brief period, until they can get their
feet on the ground.

As I understand the law as it stands right

now, this would still mandate notice to tribe.

It also would

require a 30 day notice to the parent, which is totally unreasonable.

In the situations in which we deal in child welfare, we're

dealing with trauma, we're dealing with crisis.

We're dealing

with things where someone says, I need help right now.

If you

don't help me right now, I'm afraid I'm going to explode and
blow up and hit my kid.
will help you.

To then say, okay, fine in 30 days we

It's not going to work.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MS. MINARD:

What is more realistic?

What is more realistic is that we be

able to help the parent on the spot, which is currently possible
in California law.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

And you feel under the provisions

of this bill, under a crisis situation, you would not have the
ability to do that?
MS. MINARD:

Not with a 30 day notice as required.

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
MS. MINARD:

Okay.

We have run into some specific problems

in the past six months which I would like to address -- problems
that have resulted from the federal law and which presumably will
ultimately become law in California.
tribe be notified.

The law requires that the

There is no provision, as yet, in the Bates'

bill for who in the tribe is to be notified.
108.

This is covered in

the federal registry, Section 23.12, if I remember correctly.
will need to be incorporated in the California law.

This

We ran into a

situation in a case 1n Shasta County, not too terribly long ago,
when the only thing we had available to us, to inform us as to who
to notify in the tribe was the Bureau of Indian Affairs' publication.
We notified the person listed in that publication as the chairman.
We got the letter back, "No known person."
to the vice-chairman.

We sent a second letter

That letter was returned, "No such address."

We finally made numerous telephone calls, did find an individual
who said, yeah, I will receive a letter from you notifying you
that an Indian child is being considered for a court action.
There will be a need for work on the part of the Indian tribes,
Bureau of Indian Affairs, I'm not certain who, and certainly I
would think in the law itself to specify who is to be notified.
Another problem and that is the difficulty we have
encountered when an Indian parent does not know his or her tribe
or know the percentage of his or her tribe.

Example:

A very

young child was removed from the custody of the parents last
June.

This is an unbelievable situation.

full Indian.

The father was a

He was not able to tell us what his tribal back-

ground was.

His mother said, "Well, we Yurok and some Hoopa and

some Pitt."

Well, what percentages of?

She did not know.

The

mother, the natural mother of the child, was part Indian, but
had been adopted by Caucasian parents.

She did not know what

her background was nor did her adoptive parents know.

We, the

people who will be implementing this law, will need some guidelines as to how to handle situations like this.
109.

At this point,

the federal register says that the Superior Court judge can
determine the primary tribe, and that is the tribe which you
notify.

So, we simply said in court what do you think the

primary tribe is, they said, we think it's Yurock and that is
the tribe that we notified.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

I'm sure that most of us probably

would be hard pressed to exactly delineate our particular background if we were asked, but I guess in the legislation, you
have to.
MS. MINARD:

Yes, it requires it.

The federal law does

indicate in Section 102(b) that the Bureau of Indian Affairs can
be billed for counsel for both parent and child, if I read it
correctly.
issue.

Our California law will have to address itself to this

There is no mention made in 1041 as it stands now.
ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

Why do we have to address that?

Does the bill require or in the case of Indians who are not
part of the federally-recognized group?
MS. MINARD:

I believe it just said who are indigent.

ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

So you send the bill to BIA,

isn't that what the federal law says?

Why does this require

California to do anything?
MS. MINARD:
answer.

You're asking me a legal question.

I can't

I think a judge would say, well, should I send this

through the usual procedure for an indigent client or should I
bill the BIA.

Maybe that doesn't need to be addressed, I don't

know.
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ASSEMBLYMAN LOCKYER:

Well, it might be to the extent

that we bring in a, theoretically at least, a lot of Indians who
aren't covered by the federal Act and that entails some
potential cost, I suppose.
MS. MINARD:

The phrase that Arlene referred to, and I

believe someone this morning referred to, was the prevailing
social and cultural mores of the Indian community.
course, not a legally enforceable phrase.

This is, of

This is not some-

thing that we can use in a court dependency action to say that
this child had been abused or neglected.
two comments to that.

I'd like to address

Number one, I would think that, for the

purposes of court dependency, a reference to the W & I Section,
which very clearly spells out what the reasons are for abuse or
neglect before a child being considered in need of protection,
would suffice.

No parent or guardian willing or able to capable

destitute are not provided with basic essential things, physical
abuse, etc.

But also, in light of that, there has been a number

of people who commented regarding the difficulty of finding
foster homes, because of the prevailing social and cultural mores
of the community.

We found, and I know this is true of other

counties, if you're dealing with a court dependency matter, that
you can court order a child into a home that would not meet
licensing standards.

We have done it, and you do it when it is

in the best interest of the minor.

I have visited some homes

that made me very uncomfortable, specifically in Shasta County.
Many of our Indians live in the eastern side of the County, live
in

tions that are not acceptable by any licensing standards.
111.

There is no running water, no
often no windows.
county.

or toilet facilities, very

They live way out in the mountains in the

at's okay.

If the child is not in danger, if his

physical and emotional health are not going to be harmed in any
way, the court can place that

ild

o

at type of a facility.

It can be done.
One specific objection that I have to a statement in the
current 1041 is that the exact whereabouts of the child be given
to the parent.

I strongly oppose that.

workers would strongly oppose that.

Most child welfare

The whereabouts of the

child, in terms of telling the parents, must be at the discretion
of the social worker.

If you have a parent who has a history of

violence, a parent who is drunk and disorderly at the time you
are removing the child from him, it just doesn't make common
sense to say you're child is going to be down at 1041 such and
such a street.
We very strongly support the concept of the federal law
that services all possible services must be offered to the Indian
families to show or to keep the family together prior to the
removal of the child.

I would like, at this point, to put in a

little bit of a plug for the Family Protection Act and SB 30,
the two demonstration counties that are working with some special
funds and special services to families.

We have found that with

these special funds, in San Mateo and Shasta Counties, we are
able to keep families together.

We are not removing children

from families with anywhere near the frequency that we did prior
to Family Protection Act and SB 30.
112.

I would hope that, with the

Indian Child Welfare Act

'

services such as those that have been

made available to the demonstration counties, might be made available to many of the counties to avoid having to remove children
from their homes.
I would like to see some clarification in, I think, I
know this would have to be in Bates or in regulations.
are phrases

There

in both the federal and the federal on the State's

bill, regarding Indian custodian, and Indian custodian as
determined by tribal custom and law.
not be able to apply for

AFDC~BHI

At this point, we would

for a child who's placed in

the home of someone who is identified as an Indian custodian by
tribal custom or by law.

My talking in jargon that's the approval

of funds to pay for a child is the home has to be determined that
the child is related to those people.

They are his parents or

they are directly related to him, blood relatives.

We will have

to have some kind of a definition for what tribal custom and law
means.
We heard a great deal of testimony today about the
relatively few Indian foster homes that are available.

As a

matter of fact, we just, in the northern part of the county,
simply do not have any Indian foster homes.

I think it is almost

essential that in the preferential order given, that there be an
addition to the effect that if there is not an Indian foster
home available, there are actually for the out-of-home placement,
not adoption, but for, say, dependency matters, there are four
categories.

I would suggest that there be a fifth one, any other
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not gotten that particular attention.

The thing that concerns

me in listening to statistics and what they are, for example,
I heard a statistic this morning on 25 to 35 percent of Indian
children in California are no longer with their families.
think that's accurate.

That statistic, if I remember correctly,

is from a book, The Destruction of the Indian Family.
national statistic.
California.

I don't

That is a

I don't know what the statistics are in

I would like to know exactly how many kids are out

of foster care.

I do know that in adoption, when we set out to

recruit homes for children, parents, adoptive parents and foster
parents, we are successful in doing that throughout the State.
I do know that we have not exerte·d the same amount of efforts in
adoptive recruitment for the Indian child as we have for the
Black and Chicano child, and again, be it a copout or whatever,
it's because of the numbers that are concerned.

I think that

one of the very positive things about public hearings, about Mr.
Bates' bill, about the Indian Act, is that suddenly a very small
minority is saying, "Hey, look at us.

Don't lose us with the

Black population, with the Chicano population.
those goodies too."

Give us some of

I know for our department and for the CAAA

that I am testifying for today, we have sat up and taken notice
of this.

last year, there has been more discussion of the

an situation than there was in the past fifteen, and if
nothing else happens than that, that is a way forward.

Because

I can assure you, without any doubt, we're going to be out there
hustling, and I think that I speak for foster homes and adoptive
homes.

And, I think that that is very much to the credit of
115.
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need to really look at both parts of his extended family, not just
at one.

And, I see the federal law and AB 1041 both addressing

themselves to what might be a fourth of the child's identity,
while there may be three-fourths somewhere else.

That it is just

as important and maybe more identifiable if you will, than the
one-fourth Indian.
The next route that we go in adoption is to see if
there is a family that is ethnically like that child in any way,
and this, again, pertains to the Indian child, and we from there
go to any other home that might be available for

hi~.

We agree

fully with the preferential list that you have in regard to
order of preference.

We would like to have it very, very clear

that the last order is any home that is in the best interest of
the child.

I don't think AB 1041 is clear enough on that.

I

think some social workers and other persons may unknowingly
identify that the child must go to the first four preferences,
and, if not, hold him for long periods of time in foster care.
I'm very concerned about the time frames while you go
through all those activities, and a child is growing and
developing and not really having permanency anywhere.
Traditionally, California state law has given a very sound base
to adoptive practice in California.
soundest adoption
very aware of

Probably some of the

the United States is in California.

I'm

s now, as I'm going to be taking over a new role

as the Director of the Resource Center for HEW, and I'm very
aware of how
permanency.

od the laws of California are in regard to
I am

so aware that
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gui

lines that have been

set

the

tion laws that have been established in C

ifornia

are part of the basis that is being looked at nationally now for
e

1 Te

ion Act.

And that when you see that, I've seen

the rough draft, you will probably see that that's going to be
ve

close

mo

led after a very good package that has been put

together over the past 25 years.

I think that into that adoption

package, we need to make modifications at various and sundry times
and for various groups.
some of those

I don't think that one wants to undermind

aws and to change some of them and to jeopardize

some of them without clearly knowing what is the situation.
am spe

I

specifically to the part of AB 1041 that speaks to

the fact that the parent, the birth parent,may withdraw his
consent to the placement of the child any time before that
tion is final.
as

There are two kinds of adoptions in California,

are well aware of:

between
in

Independent adoptions, strictly

parent and the adopting parent, and agency placements,

ich the birth parent relinquishes directly to an agency.

In a rel

shment adoption, the adoptive parents are very

clear that, when the child enters the home, everything has been
to s
also sa

d

guard their rights that the child is now legally free

r p acement.
child

s

parent
want
what we c

birth parent's rights to the child and

would not be the case in AB 1041.

When the

an adoptive placement, it would be well, maybe
will show up and maybe they won't.

Maybe they'll

child back and maybe they won't -- good luck.

That is

1 foster care in California, that is not adoption.

In adoption, we want the attachments where the adoptive parents
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can attach to the child knowing that in 99 and whatever percentage of 100, the child will be staying there, not that the
child will be again able to go back to the birth parent.

We

fully believe that the birth parent should have every legal
counsel, that there should be everything done to maintain that
child with the birth family.

But to allow the family, the birth

family, to again inject themselves once the legal action has been
taken, would set precedence in adoption that I think we might want
to look carefully at before we set for anyone, not only the Indian
child.
I think another area that I would like to address is
reinvolving the birth parent, should the adoption disrupt.

Now,

as we place more and more children in adoption, particularly
older and more difficult children to place, there are adoption
disruptions, when the child is returned from the adoptive family.
I have no objection whatever to having the parent reinvolved if
this is the parent's wish.

I think many of us in adoption and

many of the adoptive agencies have had situations where the birth
parent does not want to be reinvolved.

I think this again should

be the birth parent's option, and if that part is going to be
written into AB 1041, we would like to see it written, but this
would be with the birth parent's request.

In other words, when

they legally relinquish their child or whatever, that they said
if there is a disruption, we want to be reinvolved, and, somehow,
in writing.

Then there would be no objection to doing it, but

again, I think this is a violation of the parent's right to
re-establish their family after they have made a plan, only to
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have it changed.
We are running into some problems with the Indian legislation that one could anticipate happening in California also,
primarily around areas of confidentiality within the tribe, and
that nothing is confidential within a tribe,
tribes, as I understand it.

some of the

And, this becomes a problem for the

urban Indian long out of the tribal area.
regard to tribal jurisdiction.

Some problems in

And, the question that I would

raise is is it not always the Indian parent's right to choose
whether they wishto go through the civil court proceedings of the
majority culture or the tribal court.

If the parent chooses a

tribal court, I would have no question whatever, and I don't
think any of the adoption agencies would.

Where we have question

is when the parent comes to us and says, "Hey, I don't want the
tribe involved, there needs to be clear documentation that that
Indian person has the same right as the rest of us to make that
determination because it seems to us that's one of their basic
civil rights.
In a sense, we feel that AB 1041 restricts rather than
broadens the Indian child's chances of getting into adoptive
placement, in that it sets up so many time frames -- well, it
doesn't set the time frames, but it sets so many provisions to
be made that it would be extremely difficult to move the child
long to some permanency when this is indicated.

And, I know that

the intent is to protect the Indian birth parent and the Indian
child, as well as the Indian people in general from having their
children moved rapidly into other kinds of homes.
120.

I think the

paramount issue that I would want to. conclude with is really the
parent's right to make some determination apart from this law,
and the plea really that, if you're going to be putting in Indian
child Welfare officers or whatever that I have heard about for
the first time this morning, that that money, those bucks spent
on that kind of thing are spent on something like recruitment of
Indian

homes, because I don't think it has been done to any

great extent in either foster or adoptive homes.
recruitment can do if done effectively.

I know what

Also, I think monies

need to be spent in the development of those homes.

I think you

need to, as legislators, take a close look at subsidized adoptions
in California.
years.

Subsidized adoptions now are available for five

For many Indian families that is not enough.

There comes

a time when you're going to have to address the issue that maybe
rather than paying out foster care, you're going to have to be
paying out subsidized payments to adoptive parents, and that,
then, would allow other Indian families possibly to adopt, as
well as many other minority families that have similar problems
in regard to poverty.
I think that, in regard to seeking Indian foster homes,
very often this means moves of children out of areas that they
are now known in.

For example:

Is it wise, and I'm just

posing some questions that we have to face daily, to move an
Indian child that has gone to a school for eight years, in an
area that does not have an Indian foster horne.

To take him out

of that school system, away from his friends, away from everyone,
move him to a foster home, maybe 200 miles away from there where
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he knows no one, simply because it is an Indian foster home -- I
don't know.

You know, maybe it's the way to go.

But, I think

there are a number of questions like this that must be addressed
and we address them frequently at the adoption agencies.
about them.

We talk

We're very concerned about them, and I know that in

pondering this particular legislation, these are the issues that
I think have to be thought about also.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

Tom.

ASSEMBLYMAN BATES.

No, I really don't have a question.

I just think your comments were well placed, and I think it's
something we need to think about in all three people.

I appre-

ciate your looking at the bill and studying the bill in the
depth that you have.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:
Forrest here?

Thank you very much.

Is Erwin

Let me just thank those of you that testified here

this morning and this afternoon, and I'm sure it has been very
helpful to Assemblyman Bates.

When I carried the bill, I think

two years ago, I found out late that it was a very complicated
issue.

I don't think that the issue is any less complicated

today, if not, it is probably is more, only for one reason, and
that is the reason that, I think, some of the proposals at
least are being contemplated, I think, are worth exploring.

But

here once again, I think, we're talking about finances in this
bill and unfortunately, this is not the greatest year and next
year will not be the greatest year for measures like this.
I think it has helped not only Assemblyman Bates, but it has
certainly helped members of the Committee when we deliberate
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But,

this matter when we come back in January.

So, I would just like

to thank each and every one of you for being here this afternoon.
ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:
hearing.

Mr. Chairman, thank you for the

It was a good hearing and we certainly have a lot to

think about.

We just got a lot of problems, and we're going to

have to sift through them and see if we can come up with something
that makes sense.

At the same time, that's not going to spend a

lot of money on something that's politically feasible for us to
get through the Legislature.
CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

I wish we could spend some money.

ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

Well, we do have a billion dollar

surplus that we shouldn't be too timid about.

But, I would

certainly appreciate, as we develop this bill, because I think
it's just really at the very beginning stages, and we look
forward to working with your staff.

And, with Bill, I hope that

you will express some of your insights on how we might get a
bill that can work.

Because there is a problem and we need to

recognize that, and we need to try to save the Indian family.
I think if we can do that for this group, we should also look
beyond, because I think the family, as we know it, the assault
on the family, taking kids away from the family and putting them
into foster homes and taking them up for adoption is an issue
at I, personally, am going to continue to look at.

Because

I think that the Gregorio legislation was the right move, and
I hope once we get some results of that, we can actually
implement that kind of legislation which is going to take
dollars too.
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ASSEMBLYMk~

LOCKYER:

That's the work that needs to be

done next year because it's terminating.

up.

ASSEMBLYMAN BATES:

Is that terminated next year?

CHAIRMAN ALATORRE:

We'll definitely take that matter

All right, thank you very much.

------------------ MEETING ADJOURNED -----------------
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I.

Applicability of State Laws to Indian Affairs
Currently, the State of California's county superior courts and
welfare departments exercise jurisdiction over the out-of-home
placement of all Indian children residing in the State. The
State's authority over children who are members of federallyrecognized, land-based Indian tribes is derived from PL 83-280
(hereafter referred to as PL 280). That law, enacted in 1953,
mandated that certain states, including California, assume civil
and criminal jurisdiction over federally-recognized tribes residing therein, while leaving specified other states the option
of assuming such jurisdiction. The scope of PL 280 has been a
subject of continuous controversy since its enactment. A Supreme
Court decision in Bryan vs. Ataska (243 Fed 2d 863) removed much
civil jurisdiction from the states to the federally-recognized
Indian tribes. However, states covered by PL 280 retain jurisdiction in some civil and all criminal matters.

II.

Federal Indian Child Welfare Act (PL 95-608)
Last year, PL 95-608, the Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978, was
enacted. That legislation established a nationwide policy for
Indian child custody proceedings. Congress found that, " ••.
an alarmingly high percentage of Indian families are broken up
by removal, often unwarranted, of their children from them by
nontribal agencies and that an alarmingly high percentage of
children are placed in non-Indian foster and adoptive homes
and institutions."
The Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978 contained provisions which,
among other things:
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III.

1.

Declared that any
(as defined
the Act, see
discussion in Section III) shall have jurisdict
over
child custody proceedings involving Indian children residing
with that tribe. However, Indian tribes based in California
and other states covered by PL 280 could not automatically
assume jurisdiction over Indian child custody proceedings,
but would have to
ion the Secretary of the
to
obtain such jurisdiction.

2.

Mandated that state courts turn over chi
custody proceealngs
involving an Indian child (as
fined by
Act) not residing
in a reservation to the chi 's tribe if the tribal court accepts
~urisdiction
either parent or
an custodian asks for such
iransfer of 1urisdiction, and except if one parent or the custodian
objects and/or there is "good cause 11 to deny transference.

3.

Set procedures for state courts and
local administrative agencies to follow in the event child custody proceedings
are not turned over to the
child's tribe. The aim of
such standards is generally to preserve the sanctity of the
Indian family, and to reduce the placement of Indian children
with non-Indian families. More specifically, the Act:
a.

Requires notification of an Indian child's parent and
tribe in an involuntary proceeding.

b.

Allows the parent or Indian custodian to intervene in
either a voluntary or involuntary proceeding.

c.

Sets a preferential order for foster care and adoptive
placements.

d.

Requires that consent to any termination of parental
rights be carried out before a judge.

e.

Allows the parent or custodian to set aside a voluntary
relinquishment up to the time of final decree of termination or adoption.

f.

Requires the State to
records of the Indian children
receiving final adoptive placements.

4.

Authorized the Secretary of the Interior to make grants to
Indian tribes and organizations for the establishment and
operation of Indian child and family service programs.

w~o

Is Covered by the Federal Indian Child Welfare Act

A critical issue for the State is determining who is covered by
the federal Act. As a result of long-standing ambiguities and
conflicts, it is not an easy matter to determine who is and is
not to be included in a definition of "Indian population." Applied broadly, that term may be used to refer to all of the
following:
126.
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1.

Persons, and their descendants, whose names are on the final
roll for the California Indian Claims Act, and who are members
of federally-recognized, land-based California Indian tribes
with trust status. The Bureau of Indian Affairs has apparently
interpreted such members to be those persons associated with
the approximately 82 rancherias (same as reservation, in
California, rancheria came about because of the Spanish
influence) and reservations still under federal trust.
In
1978, it was estimated by California Indian Health Services
that there were approximately 15,000 to 17,000 such persons in
the State. Federally-recognized Indian tribes are eligible
for services from the federal government.

2.

Persons, and their descendants, whose names are on the final
roll of the California Indian Claims Act, and who are, therefore, federally-recognized as individuals, but who are not
members of federally-recognized, land-based Indian tribes.
Such persons include:
a. Members of tribes terminated from federal trust status by
Rancheria·Act (PL 85-671).
b. Members of tribes that were terminated under the Rancheria
Act but have since been reinstated by court or administrative findings {it remains unclear whether or not by virtue
of this reinstatement such tribes again become "federallyrecognized Indian tribes").
c. Members of tribes that never received a land assignment.
d. Beneficiaries of public domain allotments.
Historically, the Bureau of Indian Affairs has recognized these
Indians as eligible for certain federal programs, such as the
Housing Improvement Program. California Indian Health Services
estimates the number of such persons at between 53,000 and
55,000.

3.

"Urban Indians." In addition to urban dwellers that fall
under categories (1) and (2) above, the State has a large
population of city people who consider themselves Indians,
who cannot prove lineage to someone on the Indian Claim
Act. Many of such persons, however, may be included in the
rolls of federally-recognized Indian tribes based in other
states. California's urban centers were reClplents of migration away from reservations under the Indian Relocation and
Industri
Development Program. The four relocation centers
established for that Act, which remain the main areas of
Indian urban concentration, were Los Angeles, Oakland, San
Francisco, and San Jose. Estimates of the number of "urban
Indians" are especially controversial since there are no
set criteria
defining such persons. The most frequentlyused estimates
ace the number of such persons at approximate
150,000.
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4.

Rural inhabitants who consider themselves Indians but cannot
prove lineage. It is not known how many of such persons exist.

The federal Indian Child Welfare Act defined both "Indian" and
11
Indian child" in terms of membership in an 11 Indian tribe. 11 An
"Indian tribe" is, in turn, defined as "any Indian tribe, band,
nation, or other organized group recognized as el
for the
services provided for Indians by the Secretary (of the Interior
California's federally-recognized tribes (1 above) obviously
this definition.
Clearly, these tribes are eligible to eventually
reassume jurisdiction over child custody proceedings under the
Act.
It also seems apparent that California courts intended to
follow the guidelines for state courts when dealing with a child
who is a member of one of California's federally-recognized
Indian tribes, until such time as that tribe may reassume jurisdiction over child custody proceedings. We are awaiting a Legislative Counsel opinion which may confirm this interpretation.
The opinion will be included if it arrives in time. However, it
is less clear whether terminated Indian tribes, terminated and
reinstated tribes, landless tribes, etc., whose membership is made
up of persons federally-recognized as individuals (2 abov~, fit
the definition of "organized group or community of Indians
recognized as eligible for the services provided to Indians by
the Secretary." Can, for example, a tribe that never received
a land assignment but which has an organized governing body assume jurisdiction over child custody proceedings? Must, for
example, state courts follow the preferential adoption and
foster care placement order set down in PL 608 when the child in
question is a member of a terminated California Indian tribe?
Answers to these questions and similar ones are unclear.
The child custody provisions of the federal Act also clearly apply
to proceedings involving children who are on the rolls of federallyrecognized tribes in other states.
In such cases, proceedings may
be turned over to those Indian tribes.
It seems apparent that eligibility for the grants under PL 608
is more wlae open. Conversations with the Bureau of Indian
Affairs have confirmed this interpretation.
It appears that the
grant provisions apply to any organization made up of, or a
majority of whose members are, federally-recognized Indians.
None
of the provisions
the Indian Child Welfare Act would seem to
apply to persons who consider themselves Indians, but are not of
federally-recognized tribes (in California or other states), or
federally-recognized as individuals.
IV.

Implementing Child Custody Guidelines Mandated by the Federal Act
The State Department of Social Services has responsibility for
supervising private and public adoption agencies, administering

128.

Indian Children
Page 5

its own direct adoption operations, and superv1s1ng foster care
placements made by county welfare departments. Last May, the
Department notified the county welfare departments and all adoption
agencies of the potential impact of PL 608 on child custody proceedings, and, particularly, of the Act's implications for
adoption procedures. Regulations are now being developed to
implement PL 608 in accordance with both federal law and final
federal regulations, released last July. The Department has been
gathering information from adoption agencies about children who
may be considered Indian for the purposes of the Act. The names
of approximately 100 children have been turned over to the Department.
In addition, Adoptions Bureau staff have been handling
questions, and have attempted to determine, on a case-by-case
basis, whether particular "Indian children" are covered by the
federal Act -- a time-consuming task because of the jurisdictional
questions involved.
V.

Implementing Other Provisions of the Federal Act
Funding for technical assistance to tribes to reassume jurisdiction over Indian child custody proceedings, and for grants to
Indian tribes and organizations for family protection services,
may be available through congressional appropriation (FY 1980) as
part of the Bureau of Indian Affairs' budget. The Bureau has
~een tentatively allocated over $5 million for purposes of
fulfilling the goals of the Indian Child Welfare Act. State
shares would be based on Indian population, with a $10,000 base
grant and would be allocated for needs specified by the Indians
themselves. The Bureau's area agency for this region, which is
based in Sacramento, is planning to hold a meeting of California's
tribal chiefs later this fall to determine how any available
federal money should be used.
Officials of the Bureau's area office have indicated that it will
be at least a couple of years before any tribe assumes jurisdiction
over Indian child custody proceedings.
It is also believed that
some of the smaller tribes will not elect to petition for reassumption of jurisdiction.

VI.

Attached is a copy of the staff analysis of AB 1041, as introduced,
prepared for the hearing before this Committee on April 25 (the
"background" section of that analysis, which was revised for in.clusion in the foregoing sections of this briefing paper, has
been removed). The bill has not been amended. However, the author
has indicated he will offer substantial amendments to AB 1041
before it is again brought before committee for a regular meeting.
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ANALYSIS
This bill
met before an Indian child is removed
custody of his or
(s
or from
extended
ly me~ber to whose care
who has custody under
custom.
also apply to actions which reduce
cf such persons. The requirements

requirements be
legal or physical
of an
left, or

(1} The child's parent(s) or the extended family member caring
for the child must be noti
at least 30 days before
placement proceeding. The notif
must include statements of the facts under which the placement is sought, and
the rights
the parent or custodian to intervene in the
proceedings as an interested party, be represented by
counsel, submit evidence and present witnesses, and examine
all reports and documents pertaining to the placement decision.
(2} The party seeking to affect the
ild placement must show
that available remedial services and
litative programs
designed to prevent the breakup of the Indian family have
been made available and proved unsuccess
These requirements would not apply to temporary placements made to protect the immediate physical or emotional wellbeing of the child, or to proceedings re
to minors alleged
to come within the provision of Section 601 or 602 of the Welfare
and Institutions Code.
In such cases,
parent(s} or custodian
would be required to
notified immediately, as would the child's
tribe, if written consent
from
parents, of the
child's whereabouts,
reason for removal, the proposed placement plan, the time and date of custody hearings, and other facts
1elating to the placement.
These requirements
also not apply to placements
'7hich remove a child from a reservation area as an incidence
of attendance in school.
The bill
further mandate that, when the parent(s)
or extended family member caring for the child opposes the loss
of custody, a preponderance of clear and convincing evidence must
show that the continued custody of the child by his/her parent(s)
or extended family member caring for him/her would result in
immediate and serious emotional or physical harm to the child.
The standards to be applied
such proceedings would be the
prevailing social and cultural mores of the Indian community.
If the parent(s) or custodian consent to a placement, the consent
must be voluntary, in writing,, executed before a judge of a
superior court, and certif
by the judge as explained in detail
and translated into the parent's native language. The consent
could be revoked at any time for nonadaptive placement, and up
to the final decree of adopt
in an adoptive placement.
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Furthermore, in the case of an adoptive placement, -no consent
could be given during pregnancy or within five days of ·the birth
of a child, and no final decree of adoption could be entered
within 90 days of the birth of a child or 90 days after the
parent(s) has given written consent, whichever is later.
This bill would also require that the parent(s) or
custodian be notified at least 10 days, and preferably 30 days,
l:.efore a child in placement is transferred from one setting to
another. The tribe, with which the child has significant contacts,
would also be notified if the parent(s} or custodian consented
in writing.
This bill would establish the preferential order for
adoption as:
(1) the child's extended family; (2) an Indian home
on the reservation where a child resides or has significant
contact; (3) an Indian home where the family head or heads are
re~mbers of the tribe with which the child has significant
c~ntacts;
(4) an Indian home approved by the tribe with which
the child has significant contacts. The bill would establish
t:"le preferential order for nonadopti ve placements as:
( 1) the
child's extended family: (2) a licensed foster home on the reservation of which the child has significant contacts; (3) a
licensed foster home on any Indian reservation approved by the
Indian tribe of which the child is a member of or has significant
contacts: (4) to any licensed foster home maintained by an Indian
family; (5) to a custodial institution for children operated by
an Indian tribe, a tribal organization, or nonprofit Indian
o:ganization. The agency making placement would have to maintain
r~cords showing efforts to comply with these preferential orders.
Any Indian child reaching the age of 18 would hav8 the
right to learn the tribal affiliation of his parent(s) ane other
necessary information about his/her tribal relationship.
This bill would also allow an Indian tribe to assume
jurisdiction over matters relating to the welfare of minor
members of the tribe, including adoption and foster care, upon
approval by the Director of the Department of Social Services.
In such cases of tribal jurisdiciton, no placement of an Indian
residing on an Indian reservation could be made, except
the tribal court. However, a public agency could remove a
child whose immediate physical or emotional well-being was
threatened, if notice was given to the tribal authority, parents,
and custodian.
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w:>uld be requi
2 ccordance
ments authori
Department
Indian
breakup of
is permanent
family or tribal

those
, or temporary place-

ensure
an Indian ch d
parents), or extended
only as a last resort.

One
five thousand dollars would be
a)propriated to the Department of Social Services for the purposes
of this Act.
also contains a blank appropriat
reimbursing
governments.
This
11
identified as an
rolls maintained
groups; descended
person
fied
L~rst or second
council;
a lawful

" as any person
Bureau of Indian Affairs or by the
tribe, band or other organized
or second generation from any
of an
tribe;
a
descendant of a tribe by the tribal
one-quarter Indian blood of
tribe" would be
fined
other organized group
(1) recognized
the
as possess
a distinct cultural or
sessing a land base or an
zed by
Directo~ as eligible
chi
welfare matters.
as any group, association,
entity owned or controlled
~a.~~.o
are Indians.
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2.

no reference to
federal
lation
ar.
Is
intent of this bill to expand
of children
Indian organizations covered
child placement provisions?
of
much
r than
federal legislat
eligible for
the

n

" used
this bill is
PL 95-608. The
definition to those
restricts
by the Secretary
provided
e of their status as Indians.
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Tribes receiving these services must have a land base.
Under PL 95-608, only federally recognized tribes
assume foster care and adoption placement responsibilities for their members. The broader AB 1041
definitions would both expand coverage to nonfederally
recognized Indians, and remove the special status
for federally recognized Indians. The definition
utilized in this proposed legislation would allcw
extension of tribal status to groups as diverse as:
(1) the federally recognized reservation in Bishop,
which has an established governing body; (2) any
nonprofit health organization, a majority of whose
members are Indians; and (3) a group of mostly Indians
who formed for the express purpose of assuming child
welfare responsibliity under this Act.
Furthermore,
the Director of the Department of Social Services
(who is not generally given authority over matters
involving Indians) would determine whether an
"Indian tribe," not recognized by the Secretary of
the United States Department of the Interior as
having a distinct cultural or ethnic identity, is
entitled to assume responsibility over Indian child
welfare matters.
In effect, Indian child welfare legislation, such as
PL 95-608, and this proposed legislation, allm·!s Indian
tribes to assume certain functions usually performed
by nontribal local government. What standards would
be developed by the Director of the Department of
Social Services to ensure that California was not
left with numerous disparate organizations of vastly
different compositions and overall functioning,
assuming the role of local government in the area
of child welfare?
3.

Section 285 of the bill states, " •.. an Indian tribe
may assume jurisdiction over matters relating to the
welfare of minor members of such tribe, including,
but not limited to, adoption and foster care."
Could an Indian tribe assume jurisdiction over public
assistance programs, such as AFDC, provided to
children who are members of that tribe?

4.

Would existing foster care licensing requirements
apply to placements under the terms of this bill?

5.

What is meant by the phrase "prevailing social and
cultural norms of the Indian community" utilized in
Section 283 of this bill? Who would determine if such
a standard was being met?
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